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Introduction

NAC at a glance

2017/18 Highlights

Nordic Aviation Capital (“NAC”) is a commercial aircraft leasing
company focused exclusively on regional aircraft. We provide
flexible, customized and competitive aviation financing
solutions to airlines globally.

2017/18 was another record year for NAC as we continued
our growth journey and expanded our business. The key
highlights are:

95

Billund

Customers
We lease aircraft to 71 customers
in 48 countries
Limerick

89
2

Fort Lauderdale

20
Singapore

Hong Kong

13

Fleet
We confirmed our position as the world’s
largest regional aircraft lessor with a fleet
of 437 owned and managed aircraft

Fleet age
With a weighted average age of
6.5 years, we maintain a balanced
aircraft fleet

Track record

Note: Number of employees at 30 June 2018

We continued our track record and
delivered our 22nd consecutive
year-on-year increase in earnings

Credit rating
NAC’s history
In 1990, NAC was founded by aviation entrepreneur Martin
Møller. The company grew through the 1990s as we added
more aircraft to the fleet. In 2004, we opened an office in
Limerick, Ireland.
In 2008, we completed a landmark deal when we acquired 39
ATR 72s from American Airlines, and in 2010 the fleet for the first
time exceeded 150 regional aircraft. In 2011, we placed our first
major strategic order with ATR of 25 aircraft.
In 2012, we took a strategic decision to enhance our product
offering by adding regional jets to our portfolio.

In 2013, we continued solidifying our position as the market
leader in regional aircraft leasing and placed a USD +2.1 billion,
90 aircraft order with ATR.
In 2015, Martin Møller partnered with EQT VI and KIRKBI Invest
A/S to further accelerate growth. Subsequently, we acquired
regional jet lessors Aldus and Jetscape. Together with the acquisition of portfolios from Delta Airlines and Air Lease Corporation,
we increased our fleet to more than 350 aircraft in 2016.
Today, NAC is the world’s largest regional aircraft lessor and
the fourth largest commercial aircraft lessor with a fleet of 437
owned and managed aircraft.

We maintained our BBB+
investment grade rating from
Kroll Bond Rating Agency

Return on equity
With a 19% return on equity, we
continued delivering superior
returns to our shareholders

Average fleet age is weighted by book value.
See details on Business Performance and Business Performance return on equity on page 38.
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Introduction

At the Heart of
Regional Aviation
We are very passionate about regional aviation. Our commitment, agility and expertise in delivering the right aircraft for
our customers’ needs has enabled us to grow and maintain
our position at the heart of regional aviation.

Enabling growth
Since our founding in 1990 by aviation entrepreneur Martin
Møller, NAC has strived to make a difference for our customers, our partners and our people.

Growing the right way
We are a value-driven business and we truly believe in doing
the right deal for our customers, a good deal and not just a
financial transaction.

“Our purpose is to help the world connect by enabling airlines
to meet the fast-growing demand in regional air travel”.

Since our founding, we have maintained our passion for
regional aviation. We understand that it is diverse and
unique and requires specialist knowledge. As we grow,
we will continue to cultivate our entrepreneurial spirit and
our customer-oriented approach through our people, our
systems and our global reach. Helping our customers thrive
and prosper has enabled us to become the world’s leading
regional aircraft leasing company. We now have 437 aircraft,
a USD 6.3 billion portfolio, 71 customers in 48 countries and
22 years of increasing profitability.

By fulfilling our purpose, we help our customers, the communities they serve, our partners and our own business grow.
Helping our customers grow
Our customers are seeking a partner who can help them
grow their businesses. They need a service that is profoundly
personal. They want a partner that recognizes that their
situation is unique and who will work with them to create the
right solution, providing the right aircraft, in the right way at
the right time.
For almost 30 years, we have supported the growth of our
customers by focusing on exceptional execution. We have
consistently brought value to them through:
——

Our commitment – understanding how to
help our customers grow the right way and
over the long term enabling us to build effective and sustainable partnerships

——

Our agility – doing the deals that keep our
customers moving and growing

——

Our expertise – using our unrivalled capabilities and experience to deliver with speed and
accuracy

It is that passion and commitment that has put us at the heart
of regional aviation and enabled our growth.

Martin Møller
Chairman and Founder

Our purpose is to help the world
connect by enabling airlines to
meet the fast-growing demand
in regional air travel
Martin Møller, Chairman and Founder
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Enabling growth
through our core values
We are judged not by what we say but by what we do.
Our values drive our success because they influence how
we behave and how we operate. We aim to continue to
grow, by keeping our values at the heart of our business.

Our commitment and passion to the growth of regional
aviation is embedded in our DNA.
At NAC, our four core values have laid the foundation for our
company and its lasting success. As we continue to grow,
our core values are the compass that consistently helps us
to navigate. They represent the essence of our beliefs, culture and everyday actions. They mirror what we must always
strive to be and are a small set of timeless guiding principles
– the essential and enduring beliefs of our company.
Our founder, Martin Møller, has ingrained the core values into
our corporate culture and they are the cornerstone of the
NAC DNA.
Our values drive our behavior
Everything we do is driven by our core values. They underpin
our focus on exceptional execution. We must have passion
to make a difference, we need to stay humble and not
overpromise and we must care about the work we do and be
trusted for what we deliver.

In the fast-changing world in
which we operate, the only
constant is our core values
Martin Møller, Chairman and Founder

We know our customers value our profoundly personal approach, treating each of them as unique businesses. We are
respectful and humble, and through our passion we prove to
them how we strive to make a difference. Together we help
our customers and partners grow and, in turn, we help the
regional communities of the world grow.
We believe passionately in the right kind of growth. We will
not do any deal, we believe in doing the right deal. That is
because we are a value-driven company. Our values have
enabled our growth.
To fulfil our purpose and to enable growth we have to stay
true to these values. As Martin Møller says:
“In the fast-changing world in which we operate, the only
constant is our core values”.
To stay at the heart of regional aviation, these values must
stay at the heart of our business.

Act Caring

Care for our company, people,
customers, and business associates

Be Trustworthy

Be true to your word
– keep your promise

Stay Humble

Act with integrity
– be respectful to others

Have Passion

Strive to make a difference
in aviation

Nordic Aviation Capital

Annual report 2017/2018
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In 2017/18, we continued our
growth journey and delivered our
22nd consecutive year-on-year
increase in earnings
Søren M. Overgaard, CEO

Review

Review

Statement
from the CEO

During the year, we strengthened our capabilities
through people, processes and systems and established
a presence in Hong Kong.
We further strengthened our C-suite with the appointment of Steve Gorman as Chief Funding Officer. Steve
has played a leading role in launching NAC’s unsecured
funding program, and his experience and achievements
will make a significant contribution to the growth of NAC.
Delivering on our ambitious strategic targets is highly
dependent on our ability to make the right decisions and
take the right action on a daily basis. Our experienced
leadership team is vital in this process and will continue
to be so as we continue to grow.

Our strategic ambition is to be the globally preferred lessor
and supplier of regional aircraft solutions. At 30 June 2018,
we owned and managed 437 aircraft, making NAC the
world’s largest regional aircraft lessor and the fourth largest
commercial aircraft lessor1.

2017/18 Highlights
We continued our profitable growth journey in 2017/18 and delivered the 22nd consecutive year-on-year increase in earnings. We added strength to our organization and platform, in
both expertise and numbers, redesigned our geographical
footprint to continue to stay close to our customers and markets and solidified the strong relationships we have built over
the years with OEMs and other business partners.

Our team
Our team of 219 people has a variety of expertise and skills
and more than 900 years of combined experience in NAC.
As part of our core values, we remain committed long-term
to our people, ensuring they have the right environment in
which to do the right thing for our customers.

Risk management
As a global company, we remain focused on events and
circumstances that may impact our strategic objectives,
and we continuously assess appropriate actions and
mitigating factors to protect our business. Furthermore,
we continue to evaluate our approach to risk and how we
best mitigate risks continues to be deeply embedded in
the way we work.

We remain committed to
delivering innovative regional
aircraft solutions to our cus
tomers globally, but none
of our achievements would
have been possible without the
hard work and perseverance of
our passionate team delivering
exceptional execution, in a
profoundly personal way.
— We are at the heart of
regional aviation.
Søren M. Overgaard, CEO

We remain committed to helping our existing and new
customers grow by providing the right aircraft, in the right
way at the right time to enable customers to scale their
businesses efficiently. We remain committed to our value
proposition which offers flexibility, reliability and ability to
execute – c
 haracteristics we have found valued by customers
when growing their businesses.
To serve the growing global demand for air travel and meet
the continued growth of regional aviation, we acquired a total
of 79 aircraft for our portfolio and have a further 49 aircraft
on order for delivery over the next three years. During the
year, we also ordered our 100th aircraft from ATR in the fourth
order since 2011, evidencing our long-term commitment to the
turboprop segment.
Maintaining our disciplined approach yielded yet another year
with strong financial performance. I am happy to report that
we delivered our 22nd year of consecutive profit growth in
2017/18 with a Business Performance result of USD 160 million
and with total assets of USD 7.8 billion and aircraft investments of USD 1.5 billion during the year, we have prepared
ourselves for a successful future.
On the funding side, we successfully raised USD 1.3 billion
through a wide range of sources and increased the un
secured share of our debt portfolio to 33%.
As always none of our results would have been achieved
without our hardworking and passionate team, working
around the clock delivering exceptional execution, in a
profoundly personal way.
1

Ascend July 2018 - Measured by number of aircraft
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Fleet

A cornerstone of our success remains our ability to place
new and remarket secondhand aircraft. This capability plays
a vital role in enhancing our financial results. New aircraft
being placed on long leases provides predictable revenues
and helps to manage the average age of our fleet. Acquisition
and placement of recent vintage, secondhand aircraft is also
a key aspect of our business. With selective investment in
secondhand aircraft we have the unique ability to enhance
the value of these aircraft and deliver a superior product to
our customers.

With our fleet strategy of focusing exclusively on larger
regional aircraft we continue to serve a unique part of the
global aviation market.

Technical capabilities
Cornerstones in our fleet maintenance strategy are our
in-house technical team and our maintenance and delivery
center located in Billund, Denmark. Our maintenance and
delivery facility has both EASA Part 145 and FAA Repair Station
Approvals allowing us to perform maintenance on all aircraft
types in our fleet.

At 30 June 2018, we owned and managed a fleet of 274 turboprops and 163 regional jets and had a further 84 OEM orders
and committed aircraft (40 turboprops and 44 regional jets),
taking the fleet to 521 aircraft in total.

During the year, we strengthened our position as the world’s
largest regional aircraft lessor. Our fleet now represents
approximately 7% of the total global regional fleet and 25%
of the regional fleet owned by lessors2.

During the year, we took delivery of 20 new aircraft and purchased 59 secondhand aircraft. The combination of new and
secondhand aircraft in our portfolio provides our customers
with a unique product offering. The average value-weighted
age of our fleet was 6.5 years, the same as a year ago.

Expanding our product offering
Our scale, regional experience and technical expertise are
unmatched in the regional sector, and it enables us to serve
the full spectrum of our customers’ needs for turboprops and
regional jets.

ATR 42

ATR 72

The facility covers more than 5,200 sqm and includes five
hangars – one of which is dedicated to customer inspections
and providing modification solutions.
Our customers can be assured that the very best quality
of workmanship and finish is applied to every aircraft that
passes through these facilities.

Dash8

During the year, our facility in Billund and technical team
handled a total of 119 aircraft deliveries. The combination
of our own maintenance facility and in-house technical
team helps protect asset values and enhances the customer experience.

CRJ900/1000
Fleet summary
In fleet
Aircraft

Five-year fleet development3

(By number of aircraft)

(Owned and managed)

Committed

2%

Owned

Managed

OEM

Other

Total

ATR42

32

-

12

-

44

ATR72

152

-

22

6

180

Dash8

90

-

-

-

90

CRJ900/1000

23

-

-

-

23

E170/175

24

2

-

1

27

E190/195

105

2

15

28

150

A220

-

7

-

-

7

Total

426

11

49

35

521

Our unrivaled position in regional aircraft
We continue to own the largest fleet of ATRs and Bombardier
Q400s, and the largest fleet of regional jets. We also continue
to own and manage Bombardier CRJs and A220s aircraft. Our
focus on in-production aircraft with a large operator base
and long economic lives help safeguard residual values of our
fleet, and our order book helps us meet our customers’ need
for new technology aircraft in the coming years.
2

Owned and managed fleet
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152
90
23

7%
500

E170/175

24%

26

400

35%

300

6%

E190/E195
200

5%

ATR42
ATR72

Dash8
CRJ900/1000

107

100

21%

E170/175
E190/195

A220

Measured by number of aircraft

14

32

0
3

Nordic Aviation Capital

13/14

By number of aircraft

Nordic Aviation Capital

14/15

15/16

16/17

17/18

7

A220
Note: Owned and managed aircraft
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Markets and customers

Lease revenue by geographical region

Air travel is the fundamental driver for aircraft demand and as
it continues to grow it will drive further demand for aircraft.

Europe

43%

North America
Continued global growth
During the year, the commercial aviation industry saw an
increase in global air traffic of 8.1%4 year-on-year in Revenue
Passenger Kilometers (RPK) which fueled demand for aircraft.
The growth varied across regions from 3.9% in North America
to 10.2% in Asia-Pacific.
Across geographical regions, regional aircraft continue to play
an essential role in route networks.
Regional aircraft are typically used to serve smaller markets,
thinner routes or add feed to network hubs. Thus, regional
aircraft have proven less volatile than other larger aircraft
types due to their infrastructure-like characteristics.

10%

Asia and
the Pacific
Africa and the
Middle East

6%

South and
Central America

16%

25%

In all regions, we experienced a positive sentiment towards
aircraft leasing, and we expect this trend to continue going
forward and have a positive impact on the leasing penetration
rate.
During the year, we continued to experience a strong demand
for regional aircraft and signed 162 LOIs and 135 contracts.
Being close to our customers is an essential part of building
sustainable relationships and our geographically dispersed
marketing team know their regions intimately, allowing NAC
to maximize value-added elements to each deal with speed,
agility, low execution risk and with focus on meeting the
needs of our customers.
Today, we have five regions each with its own dedicated
regional marketing team serving our 71 customers in 48
countries.
Europe
In Europe passenger traffic (RPK) grew by 9.1% in 2017. We
grew in both number of customers and revenue, and we
now derive 43% of our lease revenue from this important
market. We also successfully dealt with the Air Berlin
bankruptcy and managed to place our 17 Q400s with
Lufthansa in a seamless transition.
4

Americas
In North America, we were happy to conclude a landmark deal
with Silver Airways in a 20 turboprops transaction. The first of
20 new aircraft was delivered in April 2018 with the remaining
to be delivered through 2020. The transaction and successful
placement of these aircraft was a result of the close cooperation between ATR, Silver Airways and NAC.
While several economies in South and Central America were
faced with challenging economic conditions RPK grew by
7.4%, and we expanded our business with existing customers
as well as gaining new ones.
Asia Pacific
Asia-Pacific (APAC) remained a key market for NAC and
accounts for 25% of our lease revenue. During the year, we

increased our customer base and grew our lease revenue
in the region by 13%. We continue to see increased demand
across the region, especially in India as the aviation industry
is further developed.
During the year, we strengthened our geographical footprint
with additional people and an office in Hong Kong to serve the
North-East Asia region.
Domestic passenger growth in China grew by a staggering
11.9% and China is currently building ~50 airports to cope with
the increasing passenger growth. Current policy is that new
airlines must first fly 25 regional aircraft before they can add
larger aircraft types to their fleet. Approximately 40 start-up
airlines have submitted applications for AOCs to commence
operations in China. The ongoing initiatives are expected to

drive significant regional airline growth, especially in West and
North-West China. We continue to follow the Chinese market
very closely as it represents significant potential.
Russia, Middle East and Africa
In Russia, Middle East and Africa we continued our growth
and continued to see good opportunities for NAC. We added
new customers and grew our presence in absolute numbers
and almost doubled the number of aircraft to customers in
these regions; a testament to the ever-stronger business
relationships throughout the region.

RPK growth on this page refer to IATA Fact Sheet – June 2018 for 2017
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Significant transactions

29
20
15
7

NAC acquired 29 E-jets owned
by Atlas. NAC had managed the
aircraft since 2016.

NAC agreed to lease 20 ATRs
to Silver Airways, making them
the first operator of ATR-600
series aircraft in the United
States.

NAC placed an order for 15
new aircraft with ATR. The
order was NAC's fourth with
ATR since 2011.

Significant transactions
During the year, the market offered many opportunities for us
to grow the fleet and we demonstrated our ability to execute
transactions across the entire spectrum, from single aircraft
transactions to large complex portfolio acquisitions as well as
on-lease and off-lease transactions.
Our disciplined sourcing strategy is essential to creating longterm sustainable returns and each sourcing channel plays a
distinct part.
During the year, we took delivery of 20 new aircraft from our
order book. We also purchased 59 secondhand aircraft: 19 off
lease, 22 on lease and 18 in sale and lease-back transactions
with airlines. Finally, we sold nine aircraft.
Customers
During the year, we added new regional jet customers to
our portfolio and increased our lease revenue from regional
jet aircraft so it now accounts for 44% of our total lease
revenue. We continued to see a lot of growth opportunities
in the regional jet space as the secondary market matures
and new operators are being developed.
We also added new turboprop customers and increased
our lease revenue by 3%.

NAC purchased 7 turboprops
from an airline which ceased
operations in 2016.

Lease revenue by aircraft type

6
6
4

NAC purchased 6 E195s from
an existing South American
customer and placed the aircraft on lease with a European
flag carrier.

5%

29%

NAC agreed to purchase 6
turboprops from an airline in
Malaysia.

NAC announced that it has
committed to lease four new
Embraer E190’s to LOT Polish
Airlines. The placement of the
new aircraft are from NAC’s
existing Embraer order book.

29%

6%

The continued growth and
demand for regional aircraft
enabled us to strategically
expand our portfolio

9%
22%

2
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NAC placed 2 Q400 on lease
to Jambojet, a new customer
to NAC.

Søren M. Overgaard, CEO
ATR42
ATR72

Dash8
CRJ900/1000

E170/175
E190/195

Nordic Aviation Capital
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Organization
We understand that having the right people with the right
values is critical for our growth and delivering on our strategic
objectives – both now and in the future.

In-house leasing platform
During the year, we added 24 people to our team, and at
30 June 2018, we were 219 people spread over five offices.
One of the cornerstones in our strategy is to maintain
a complete leasing platform with all key functions
in-house. Our Marketing team holds an average of 25
years of relevant industry experience and with strong
relationships and regular engagements with all relevant
airlines with regional aircraft needs, we have first-hand
information regarding regional market demand and
needs. We believe our Marketing team is the strongest
in regional aviation, and we continue to build expertise in
the team.
Our transaction negotiators, lawyers, finance specialists
and highly skilled technical team allow us to monitor our
fleet and support our customers. Our internal team brings
agility and speed to deal and transaction execution and
execute transitions swiftly and cost-effectively.
Scalability and efficiency
We understand the value of having a global scalable
platform and therefore we continue to add skills and build
competencies throughout the organization as well as
conducting regular and thorough reviews of the optimal
organizational structure.
Implementing efficient systems and processes is critical
to increasing productivity. During the year, we invested
significantly in our proprietary operational and commercial
system, Shamrock. We also implemented a new finance
system to cater for continued growth, increase transparency and support improved management reporting and
better-informed decision-making.
Data protection
With the increasing risk of cyber attacks, we have
adopted a cloud strategy to ensure that we rely on the
most up-to-date security solutions to protect our information and personal data.

20

Annual report 2017/2018

NAC Graduate Programme
Fostering talents and developing future leaders
At NAC, we are committed to fostering talents
and developing future leaders and our Graduate
Program plays an important part in shaping the
future of NAC.
Furthermore, we remain committed to nurturing
and developing our future leaders providing them
with opportunities and resources to help them
develop both personally and professionally.
NAC Graduate Programme (2 years overview)
Rotation 1
(8 months)

Rotation 2
(8 months)

Rotation 3
(8 months)

See more on www.nac.dk/our-people/careers/

Developing talents and future
leaders is essential to remaining
competitive and during the year
we launched initiatives to make
sure that NAC will remain an
attractive employer
Søren M. Overgaard, CEO

Nordic Aviation Capital

Nordic Aviation Capital

Annual report 2017/2018
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Funding
A key element in our strategy is to raise funds, timely and at
competitive rates. During the year, we continued to further
diversify our sources of funding, capitalizing on our financial
strength and market position. We raised a total of USD 1.3
billion through private placements (USD 450 million) and
upsized our revolving credit facility (USD 265 million) with
leading commercial aviation banks and an additional JOLCO
(USD 43 million) with durations ranging from 3 to 10 years
– all supported by our BBB+/BBB Kroll ratings. Pricing was
attractive, illustrating the funding market’s increasing confidence in our business.
Our funding ambition remains to support our operational
and commercial flexibility through a larger portion of
unsecured funding as it provides agility to execute deals.
At 30 June 2018, our total debt was USD 5.2 billion, of which
33% was unsecured, up from 21% at 30 June 2017.

2017/18 was a landmark year
as we increased revenue, total
assets and executed additional
investments of USD 1.5 billion.
Thus, we have created a strong
foundation for the future and to
continue our growth journey
Søren M. Overgaard, CEO

At 30 June 2018, we had USD 95.1 million in unrestricted cash
and undrawn facilities for investments of USD 431 million.

Financial review
With a Business Performance result of USD
160 million in 2017/18 we delivered our 22nd
year of consecutive growth in earnings.

Financial Performance
As we continued to add more aircraft and customers to our
business we successfully grew total revenue by 7% to USD
735.4 million and our lease revenue grew by 12% to USD
637.0 million. We also increased the value of our committed
contracted lease rentals by 6% to USD 3.5 billion.

Summary financials
Revenue
USDm

2017/18

2016/17

Revenue

735.4

689.7

EBITDA

694.3

615.0

EBIT

396.0

381.2

Business Performance Result

160.2

152.7

Aircraft

6,341.9

5,263.9

Total assets

7,761.1

6,598.1

Equity

1,542.5

1,408.8

542.1

569.8

1,496.3

1,483.5

870.6

694.9

In 2017/18, EBITDA increased by 13% to USD 694.3 million,
and EBIT increased by 4% to USD 396.0 million.

Cash flow from operating activities

Net finance costs increased by USD 17.6 million to USD
250.1 million to finance our growth. With a Business
Performance result of USD 160.2 million we delivered
a 19% return on equity.

Cash flow from financing

We increased our total assets by 18% to USD 7.8 billion with
the increase mainly attributable to investment in aircraft.

EBIT margin %

54%

55%

Business Performance Margin %

22%

22%

Business Performance return on equity

19%

22%

Share of unsecured funding

33%

21%

We continued to generate strong, stable cash flows from
operating activities of USD 542.1 million and we invested a
total of USD 1.5 billion in aircraft in line with previous year.

22
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Aircraft investments

Ratios

Nordic Aviation Capital

Aircraft

7%

20%

17/18: USD 735.4m

17/18: 6,341.9

16/17: USD 689.7m

16/17: 5,263.9

Business Performance Result

5%

Total Assets

18%

17/18: USD 160.2m

17/18: USD 7,761.1m

16/17: USD 152.7m

16/17: USD 6,598.1m

Nordic Aviation Capital

Annual report 2017/2018
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Looking ahead
Our platform provides a strong foundation for the future.
However, adapting to a changing world requires continued
focus and attention to ensure that we remain agile, competitive
and understand what our customers want.

Outlook
It is nearly three years since our founder Martin Møller partnered with EQT, a European private equity firm, and KIRKBI, a
Danish investment company, to support our growth strategy.
We continue to benefit from our owners’ global perspective,
experience and financial strength, enabling us to continue our
growth journey. We have the necessary financial strength to
take advantage of growth opportunities when they arise.
In 2018/19, we expect to see continued growth in regional
aircraft demand driven mainly by the positive global outlook
for air travel growth with some regional variation. We expect
demand for both new and secondhand regional aircraft to
remain strong which stresses the importance of having a
balanced portfolio.
Today we are the world’s largest regional aircraft lessor – and
our scale, experience and execution capabilities have enabled
us to build a market maker position and act as a clearing
house for deals in the regional aircraft space.

In 2018/19, we expect to deliver on our strategic growth
targets by continuing our disciplined investment approach,
harvesting the benefits of our uniquely integrated platform
and our unrivalled insight into regional aviation.
Finally, our unwavering focus on our core values, long-term
sustainable customer relationships, profoundly personal
deal execution and embedded risk management culture are
fundamental to the continued success of the company. In
2018/19, we expect to continue our growth journey and deliver
the 23rd year with a consecutive increase in earnings as we
remain committed to being at the heart of regional aviation –
the NAC way.

Søren M. Overgaard
Chief Executive Officer

Our disciplined sourcing strategy is essential to creating longterm sustainable returns, and each sourcing channel plays
a distinct part in it. Our investments must continue to meet
strict transaction and portfolio criteria, and our Investment
Committee must approve all transactions.
We closely monitor our fleet as well as the operating performance and financial health of each lessee, so that we can be
proactive in identifying areas where we may provide innovative solutions. Our in-house functions allow us to monitor and
safeguard our assets, and our marketing teams’ regular interactions with customers provide us with invaluable market
intelligence which we will continue to incorporate into our risk
management evaluation process.

We have the support, the platform
and financial strength to continue
our growth journey

Furthermore, we continuously update our knowledge of
the local markets, aviation industry developments and any
impending regulatory changes.
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Directors’ report

Directors
Martin Møller Nielsen (Danish)
Søren M. Overgaard (Danish)
James Murphy (Irish)
Tom Turley (Irish)
Brian Ruben Pedersen1 (Danish)

Registered office
5th floor
Bedford Place
Henry Street
Limerick
Ireland		

		
Secretary
Jette Mariann Hulgaard2 (Danish)

The Directors present their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of Nordic Aviation
Capital DAC (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
and hereinafter “NAC” or “the Group”) for the year ended 30
June 2018. The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”), as adopted by the European Union.

Registered number
567526

Principal activities
NAC is a commercial aircraft leasing company focused on
acquiring, leasing and trading regional aircraft to airlines
worldwide. The Group has offices in Ireland, Denmark, Hong
Kong, Singapore and the United States.

Independent Auditors
KPMG
Chartered Accountants
1 Harbourmaster Place
IFSC
Dublin 1
Ireland

The Group’s activities are predominantly denominated
in US Dollars (“USD”) and this is the functional currency.
The consolidated financial statements are therefore
presented in USD.
Fleet
At 30 June 2018, NAC owned 426 aircraft, managed 11
aircraft, had purchase commitments for 58 aircraft and
letters of intent for 26 aircraft. The customer base consisted
of 71 airlines in 48 countries. The aircraft portfolio had a
weighted-average age of 6.5 years and a weighted-average
remaining lease term of 5.2 years.

Business Performance
NAC uses Business Performance as an alternative to
the results prepared in accordance with IFRS. Business
Performance outlined below best represents the financial
performance of the Group in the reporting periods when
adjusted for amortization of lease premium, maintenance
rights and other assets relating to the purchase price of
NAC A/S.
In 2017/18, the Group recorded USD 36.7 million in
amortization of lease premium, maintenance rights and other
assets of which USD 33.5 million related to lease premium,
maintenance rights and other assets which were acquired
as part of the NAC A/S acquisition. In 2016/17, the Group
recorded USD 22.2 million in amortization of lease premium,
maintenance rights and other assets of which USD 21.9
million related to lease premium, maintenance rights and
other assets which were acquired as part of the NAC A/S
acquisition. Amortization of lease premium, maintenance
rights and other assets is per Note 7.
Tax is calculated based on an assumption that the effective
tax rate on amortization of lease premium, maintenance
rights and other assets is 12.5%.

Business Performance
USD '000

2017/18

2016/17

Profit for the year

130,858

133,555

33,458

21,918

Amortization of lease premium, maintenance rights and other assets
Tax
Profit for the year adjusted for amortization related to NAC A/S acquisition
1

Appointed 3 July 2017

2

Jette Mariann Huldgaard was appointed 21 september 2017
and replaced Catherine Hurley who retired on the same date
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-4,077

-2,740

160,239

152,733
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Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”)
The Group recorded EBITDA of USD 694.3 million in 2017/18 (USD 615.0 million in 2016/17).

Note

USD '000
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization

2017/18

2016/17

642,708

587,368

Reversing depreciation included in administrative expenses

8

790

900

Reversing lease premium and incentives amortization included in revenue

2

50,770

26,684

694,268

614,952

EBITDA

Results and dividends
The Group had another record year and delivered revenue
of USD 735.4 million, operating profit before depreciation
and amortization of USD 642.7 million, profit before tax
of USD 145.9 million and net income of USD 130.9 million,
while Business Performance (as discussed above) was
USD 160.2 million.

Group’s market leading position. This included raising more
than USD 500 million through private placements and note
issuances in addition to upsizing the Group’s revolving credit
facility by USD 165 million.

At 30 June 2018, the Group had total assets of USD 7.8 billion,
including aircraft of USD 6.3 billion. Equity was USD 1.5 billion.

Subsidiaries
Details of the activities carried out by subsidiary undertakings
together with the information required by Section 314 of the
Companies Act 2014 are set out in Note 27 to these financial
statements.

The Group did not declare any dividends during the year.
Financing
The Group continued to expand the number of its financial
partners and has obtained financing from an increasing
number of international banks and institutional investors
around the world.
Loans and borrowings at 30 June 2018 were USD 5.2 billion. A
key aim of the Group’s funding strategy was to further expand
and diversify its funding sources taking full advantage of the
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The funding was supported by our BBB+/BBB rating with Kroll
Bond Rating Agency which was maintained from last year.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The Directors consider that the following are the principal risk
factors that could materially and adversely affect the Group’s
future operating profits or financial position.
Residual values of the aircraft
The Group bears the risk of re-leasing or selling aircraft in its
fleet at the end of their lease terms. If demand for aircraft de-
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creases or market lease rates decrease, these factors could
have an effect on the market value of the portfolio or re-lease
rates achieved. Should these conditions continue for an extended period, it could affect the market value of the portfolio
and may result in impairment charges in accordance with
IAS 36. The Directors look to mitigate these risks by actively
managing the portfolio, lease durations, maintenance return
conditions and selectively marketing aircraft for sale.
Credit risk of lease counterparties
The Group operates as lessor to airlines. Its ability to succeed
is partially dependent on the financial strength of its customers and their ability to compete effectively in the aviation market and manage in the competitive environment in which they
operate. If airline customers experience financial difficulties
this may result in defaults or the early termination of leases.
The Group continuously monitors and assesses its customer
and credit exposure and the Directors look to mitigate risks
by negotiating security deposits and maintenance reserve
payments as appropriate.
Geopolitical and economic risks
As a global business, NAC leases aircraft to customers in
jurisdictions worldwide, exposing it to a variety of economic,
social, legal and political risks. Exposure to multiple jurisdictions may adversely affect the Group’s future performance,
position and growth potential. The adequacy and timeliness
of management’s response to exposures in these jurisdictions is of importance to the mitigation of this risk.
Interest rate and currency risks
Exposure to interest rate risk is minimized by the use of
derivatives and maintaining a balance between fixed and
floating rate debt instruments. The majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in US Dollars, the Company’s
functional currency.
Liquidity and financing risk
The Group continuously forecasts its liquidity requirements
and continuously maintains contacts with relevant credit
institutions to maintain access to competitive financing.
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 ppropriate action has been taken to ensure timely re
A
financing of short-term credit facilities. With the aim of
managing the liquidity risk, the Group ensures that sufficient
cash is available to meet payment obligations and adhere to
covenant compliance under the respective loan agreements.
Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with factors likely
to affect the future development, performance and position
are set out above along with the financial position. In addition,
Note 21 to the financial statements includes the objectives,
policies and processes for managing financial risk; details of
financial instruments and hedging activities; and the exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk, to the extent these were
in place at 30 June 2018.
The Directors have considered the adequacy of the Group’s
funding, borrowing facilities, cash flows and profitability
for at least the next 12 months and are satisfied that the
financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis
on the basis of the future plans that the Directors have for the
business.
Directors, secretary and their interests
The present Directors and secretary are listed on page 28.
The Directors and secretary who held office at 30 June 2018
had the following interests in the share capital of the Company or any Group company at any time during the year: Martin
Møller holds 33% of the shares in NAC Luxembourg I which
is the ultimate owner of NAC. The other Directors individually
hold shares totaling less than 1% in NAC Luxembourg I.
Political donations
The Company did not make any political donations in the year
ended 30 June 2018.
Charitable contributions
The Company did not make any charitable contributions in the
year ended 30 June 2018.
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of
the Directors’ report and the financial statements

Accounting records
The Directors believe that they have complied with the
requirements of Section 281 of the Companies Act 2014 with
regard to keeping adequate accounting records by employing
accounting personnel with appropriate expertise and by
providing adequate resources to the finance function. The
accounting records of the Company can be found at Bedford
Place, Henry Street, Limerick City, Ireland.
Audit committee
The Board has considered the establishment of an Audit
Committee and decided that this is not warranted as the
Group’s Board fulfils the function by performing the duties
as required by Section 167 of the Companies Act 2014. The
duties performed by the Board include oversight of (1) the
integrity of the financial statements of the Group, (2) compliance by the Group with legal and regulatory requirements, (3)
independent auditor’s qualifications and independence, and
(4) the performance of the Group’s independent auditor.
Directors compliance statement
The Directors, in accordance with Section 225(2) of the
Companies Act 2014, acknowledge that they are responsible
for securing the Group’s compliance with certain obligations
specified in that section arising from the Companies Act
2014, the Irish market abuse laws, and tax laws (‘relevant
obligations’) as these terms are defined in the Companies Act
2014. The Directors confirm that:
——

a compliance policy statement has been drawn up
setting out the Group’s policies with regard to such
compliance;

——

appropriate arrangements and structures that, in their
opinion, are designed to secure material compliance
with the Group’s relevant obligations, have been put in
place; and

——

a review has been conducted, during the financial year,
of the arrangements and structures that have been
put in place to secure the Group’s compliance with its
relevant obligations.
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Independent auditor
KPMG have indicated their willingness to continue in office in
accordance with Section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’
report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Relevant audit information
The Directors believe that they have taken all steps necessary
to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and have established that the Group’s statutory auditor is
aware of that information. Insofar as they are aware, there is
no relevant audit information of which the Group’s statutory
auditor is unaware.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law they have
elected to prepare the Group and Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and
applicable law.

Subsequent events
Details of important events affecting the Group which have
taken place since the end of the reporting period are disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements.

On behalf of the Board
28 August 2018

Søren M. Overgaard
James Murphy
Director			Director
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Under company law the Directors must not approve the
Group and Company financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities and financial position of the Group and Company
and of the Group’s profit or loss for that year. In preparing the
financial statements, the Directors are required to:
——

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

——

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent;

——

state whether they have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS as adopted by the European Union;

——

assess the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern; and

——

use the going concern basis of accounting unless they
either intend to liquidate the Group and Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Nordic Aviation Capital

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss
of the Group and Company and which enable them to ensure
that the financial statements of the Group and Company are
prepared in accordance with applicable IFRS, as adopted by
the EU and comply with the provisions of the Companies Act
2014. They have general responsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of
the Group and the Company and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities. The Directors are also responsible for
preparing a Directors’ report that complies with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

On behalf of the Board
28 August 2018

Søren M. Overgaard
James Murphy
Director			Director
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Independent auditor’s report to the members
of Nordic Aviation Capital DAC

Based solely on our work on the other information:
——

we have not identified material misstatements in the
Directors’ report;

——

in our opinion, the information given in the Directors’
report is consistent with the financial statements;

——

in our opinion, the Directors’ report has been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

Opinions on other matters prescribed
by the Companies Act 2014
We have obtained all the information and explanations which
we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.
In our opinion, the accounting records of the Group and Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be
readily and properly audited and the financial statements are
in agreement with the accounting records.
1. Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (“financial statements”) of Nordic Aviation Capital DAC
for the year ended 30 June 2018, which comprise the Consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive
income, Consolidated statement of financial position, Consolidated statement of cash flows, Consolidated statement of
changes in equity, Company statement of financial position,
Company statement of cash flows, Company statement of
changes in equity and related notes, including the summary
of significant accounting policies set out in Note 29. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is Irish law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and,
as regards the Company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements:
——

the Group financial statements give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the
Group as at 30 June 2018 and of its profit for the year
then ended;

——

the Company statement of financial position gives a
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial
position of the Company as at 30 June 2018;

——

the Group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union;

——

the Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014; and

——
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the Group and Company financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2014.
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Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and Company in accordance with
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial
statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued
by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority
(IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
We have nothing to report on going concern
We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the
use of the going concern basis of accounting is inappropriate
or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at
least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial
statements. We have nothing to report in these respects.
Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information
presented in the annual report together with the financial
statements. The other information comprises the information
included in the Directors’ report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion
or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements
audit work, the information therein is materially misstated
or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit
knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified
material misstatements in the other information.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in
our opinion, the disclosures of Directors’ remuneration and
transactions required by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act are
not made. We have nothing to report in this regard.
2. Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use
Responsibilities of Directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 33, the Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on
IAASA’s website at
https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6
-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of
_auditors_responsiblities_for_audit.pdf
The purpose of our audit work and to whom
we owe our responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as
a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies
Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Company’s members those matters we
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Paul Dobey
28 August 2018
for and on behalf of
KPMG
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
1 Harbourmaster Place
IFSC
Dublin 1
Ireland

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group and Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group and Company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs Ireland
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

USD '000

Note

2017/18

2016/17

USD '000

2017/18

2016/17

Revenue

2

130,858

133,555

3,233

13,891

-

4,405

-

-4,405

-341

-1,783

735,375

689,657

Profit for the year

Other operating costs

-38,144

-35,619

Other comprehensive income

Gross profit

697,231

654,038

Items that may be reclassified to the statement of profit and loss

-38,661

-36,278

Fair value adjustment of hedging instruments

-23,795

-35,330

Available-for-sale financial assets - net change in fair value

Staff costs

4

Administrative expenses
Share of profit / loss after tax from equity-accounted investments
Other income

11

7,933

533

3

-

4,405

642,708

587,368

7, 8

-246,677

-206,175

396,031

381,193

13,448

8,569

Operating profit before depreciation and amortization
Aircraft-related depreciation, impairment and amortization
Operating profit (EBIT)
Financial income

5

Financial expenses

5

Available-for-sale financial assets - reclassified to profit or loss
Tax
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Total comprehensive income

2,892

12,108

133,750

145,663

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

-263,572

-241,029

USD '000

2017/18

2016/17

Net finance costs

-250,124

-232,460

Equity owners of the Group

133,750

145,663

Profit before tax

145,907

148,733

-15,049

-15,178

130,858

133,555

Tax on profit

6

Profit for the year

All income relates to continuing operations. All profits and total
comprehensive income for the current year and preceding
financial year are attributable to the owners of the Group.
The accompanying notes on pages 51 to 93 form an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.

Profits attributable to:
USD '000

2017/18

2016/17

Equity owners of the Group

130,858

133,555

Business performance
NAC uses Business Performance as an alternative to the results
prepared in accordance with IFRS. Business Performance
outlined below best represents the financial performance of the
Group in the reporting periods when adjusted for amortization of
lease premium, maintenance rights and other assets relating to
the purchase price of NAC A/S.

rights and other assets which were acquired as part of the NAC
A/S acquisition. In the year 2016/17, the Group recorded USD 22.2
million in amortization of lease premium, maintenance rights and
other assets of which USD 21.9 million related to lease premium,
maintenance rights and other assets which were acquired as
part of the NAC A/S acquisition. Amortization of lease premium,
maintenance rights and other assets is per Note 7.

In the year 2017/18, the Group recorded USD 36.7 million in amortization of lease premium, maintenance rights and other assets
of which USD 33.5 million related to lease premium, maintenance

Tax is calculated based on an assumption that the effective tax
rate on amortization of lease premium, maintenance rights and
other assets is 12.5%.

On behalf of the Board
28 August 2018

Søren M. Overgaard
Director

James Murphy
Director

Business performance
USD '000

2017/18

2016/17

Profit for the year

130,858

133,555

Amortization of lease premium, maintenance rights and other assets

33,458

21,918

Tax

-4,077

-2,740

160,239

152,733

Profit for the year adjusted for amortization related to NAC A/S acquisition
For the purpose of calculating Business Performance return on
equity, equity adjusted for lease premium, maintenance rights and
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other assets associated with the acquisition of NAC A/S at 30 June
2018 was USD 932 million (USD 769 million at 30 June 2017).
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Consolidated statement of financial position

USD '000

Note

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Equity

Goodwill

7

Lease premium, maintenance rights and other assets

7

Property, plant and equipment

8

442,167

1

1

16

244,845

306,486

Share premium

600,847

600,847

6,459,081

5,360,728

Capital contribution

626,079

626,079

11

10,321

2,389

12

95,692

29,032

9

30 June 2017

Share capital

Receivables from finance leases
Total non-current assets

30 June 2018

442,167

Investment in equity-accounted entities
Other assets

Note

USD '000

144,443

57,085

7,396,549

6,197,887

Retained earnings and other reserves
Total equity

315,592

181,842

1,542,519

1,408,769

2,965,580

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Current assets
Receivables from finance leases

12

Inventory

Loans and borrowings

17

3,538,401

10,874

4,015

Maintenance reserve liabilities

18

434,789

315,329

13,723

9,878

Trade and other payables

19

153,933

143,527

14

Trade and other receivables

13

45,679

74,128

Deferred tax liabilities

Assets held for sale

10

16,785

16,514

Total non-current liabilities

9

3,661

5,866

Other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets

15

91,017

82,125

4,218,140

3,506,561

273,849

289,861

Current liabilities

364,571

400,262

Loans and borrowings

17

1,666,550

1,335,786

7,761,120

6,598,149

Maintenance reserve liabilities

18

237,807

233,098

Trade and other payables

19

70,933

76,600

Corporation tax

6

14,920

16,276

Deferred income

20

10,251

21,059

Total current liabilities

2,000,461

1,682,819

Total liabilities

6,218,601

5,189,380

Total equity and liabilities

7,761,120

6,598,149

The accompanying notes on pages 51 to 93 form an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board
28 August 2018

Søren M. Overgaard
Director
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
2017/18

USD '000

Note

2017/18

2016/17

Cash flow from operating activities

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
contribution

Hedging
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

Equity at 1 July

1

600,847

626,079

9,050

172,792

1,408,769

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

130,858

130,858

Fair value adjustment of hedging instruments

-

-

-

3,233

-

3,233

Tax relating to other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-341

-

-341

Total comprehensive income

-

-

-

2,892

130,858

133,750

Issue of shares

-

-

-

-

-

-

Capital contribution

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total transactions with owners of the Company
and other equity transactions

-

-

-

-

-

-

Equity at 30 June

1

600,847

626,079

11,942

303,650

1,542,519

USD '000

Profit before tax

145,907

148,733

Change in receivables and payables

24

142,749

189,782

Other adjusting and non-cash items

25

206,513

216,024

Instalment finance leases

22,692

2,479

Net finance costs reversed

250,124

232,460

10,992

6,120

-229,333

-213,411

-7,513

-12,421

542,131

569,766

-1,496,285

-1,483,491

67,606

295,894

-1,428,679

-1,187,597

Interest received
Interest paid
Corporation tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of assets recognized as property, plant and equipment and finance leases
Disposal of assets recognized as property, plant and equipment and finance leases
Net cash generated from investing activities

Other comprehensive income:

Transactions with owners of the Company
and other equity transactions:

Cash flow from financing activities
Effect of change in foreign exchange rates
Proceeds from / (repayment of) indebtedness
Change in restricted cash
Net cash generated from financing activities

-25

-

870,561

694,906

-116,275

-9,574

754,261

685,332

2016/17

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
contribution

Hedging
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

Equity at 1 July

1

600,847

626,079

-3,058

39,237

1,263,106

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

133,555

133,555

USD '000
Total cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June

15

-132,287

67,501

227,382

159,881

95,095

227,382

Other comprehensive income:
The consolidated statement of cash flows includes unrestricted
cash only. See Note 15 for further details.

Fair value adjustment of hedging instruments

-

-

-

13,891

-

13,891

Tax relating to other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-1,783

-

-1,783

The accompanying notes on pages 51 to 93 form an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.

Total comprehensive income

-

-

-

12,108

133,555

145,663

Issue of shares

-

-

-

-

-

-

Capital contribution

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total transactions with owners of the Company
and other equity transactions

-

-

-

-

-

-

Equity at 30 June

1

600,847

626,079

9,050

172,792

1,408,769

Transactions with owners of the Company
and other equity transactions:

The accompanying notes on pages from 51 to 93 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Company statement of financial position
Company

USD '000

Note

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Company

ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Equity

Investment in subsidiaries

27

Total non-current assets

Amounts owed by Group companies
Other assets
Total current assets
Total assets

15

1

1

1,407,331

Share capital

1,512,757

1,407,331

Share premium

600,847

600,847

Capital contribution

626,079

626,079

109

Inventory

30 June 2017

16

Retained earnings and other reserves

Trade and other receivables

30 June 2018

1,512,757

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Note

USD '000

13

1,326

-

696,029

267,343

Total equity

-22,250

-16,864

1,204,677

1,210,063

150,000

150,000

150,000

150,000

Liabilities

1,888

97

Non-current liabilities

66,726

161,992

Loans and borrowings

766,078

429,445

Total non-current liabilities

2,278,835

1,836,776

17

Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings

17

468,066

461,498

Trade and other payables

19

9,985

9,484

Amounts owed to Group companies

446,107

5,731

Total current liabilities

924,158

476,713

Total liabilities

1,074,158

626,713

Total equity and liabilities

2,278,835

1,836,776

The accompanying notes on pages 51 to 93 form an integral part
of these Company financial statements.

On behalf of the Board
28 August 2018

Søren M. Overgaard
Director
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Company statement of changes in equity
Company
2017/18

Company
USD '000

Note

2017/18

2016/17

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before tax

-5,386

-6,468

Changes in receivables and payables

-2,711

8,747

Net finance costs reversed
Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

3,089

-6,788

66,452

72,237

-62,391

-62,477

-947

5,251

Cash flow from investing activities
Investment in subsidiaries

-105,426

-55

-

-3,718

-105,426

-3,773

Proceeds from / (repayment of) indebtedness

11,107

160,147

Net cash generated from financing activities

11,107

160,147

Total cash flows

-95,266

161,625

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July

161,992

367

66,726

161,992

Loans granted to subsidiaries
Net cash generated from investing activities

27

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
contribution

Retained
earnings

Total

Equity at 1 July

1

600,847

626,079

-16,864

1,210,063

Loss for the year

-

-

-

-5,386

-5,386

Issue of shares

-

-

-

-

-

Capital contribution

-

-

-

-

-

Total transactions with owners of the Company
and other equity transactions

-

-

-

-

-

Equity on 30 June

1

600,847

626,079

-22,250

1,204,677

USD '000

Transactions with owners of the Company
and other equity transactions:

Cash flow from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June

The accompanying notes on pages from 51 to 93 form an integral
part of these Company financial statements.

Company
2016/17

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
contribution

Retained
earnings

Total

Equity at 1 July

1

600,847

626,079

-10,396

1,216,531

Loss for the year

-

-

-

-6,468

-6,468

Issue of shares

-

-

-

-

-

Capital contribution

-

-

-

-

-

Total transactions with owners of the Company
and other equity transactions

-

-

-

-

-

Equity on 30 June

1

600,847

626,079

-16,864

1,210,063

USD '000

Transactions with owners of the Company and
other equity transactions:

The accompanying notes on pages from 51 to 93 form an integral
part of these Company financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 REPORTING ENTITY
Nordic Aviation Capital Designated Activity Company (the “Company” or “NAC”) is incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of
Ireland. The address of the Company’s registered office is Bedford
Place, Henry Street, Limerick City, Ireland.

2 REVENUE (CONTINUED)
The financial statements of the Group comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June
2017 as well as the results for the years then ending for the
Company and its subsidiaries.

The current Group structure was established on 4 September
2015 to facilitate a partnership between Martin Møller, the founder and chairman of Nordic Aviation Capital A/S, EQT VI, a European
private equity firm and KIRKBI Invest A/S, a Danish investment
company. These parties are the ultimate shareholders.

2017/18

2016/17

Lease rental income from top 5 lessees

38%

37%

No single customer accounted for more than

12%

13%

USD '000
0-1 year
1-5 years
� 5 years
Total

2 REVENUE
USD '000

2017/18

2016/17

Lease rental income

636,999

567,530

Supplemental rent income

143,196

122,885

8,746

12,631

-2,796

13,295

Other revenue
(Loss) / Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Lease premium and incentives amortization

-50,770

-26,684

Total revenue

735,375

689,657

The majority of the Group’s lease rental income is fixed for the
duration of the leases. In 2017/18, the Group earned variable
rental income of USD 1.5 million (USD 1.8 million in 2016/17).
Supplemental rent income in 2017/18 included USD 17.3 million
associated with aircraft acquired and USD 19.3 million associated with the seamless transition of leases from an airline that
entered administration to the successor airline. Supplemental
rent income in 2016/17 included USD 51.2 million associated
with aircraft acquired and USD 15.2 million associated with the
change of lease terms to an airline that entered administration.

Lease premium and incentives amortization in 2017/18 included
amortization of USD 4.6 million related to the seamless transition of leases from an airline that entered administration to the
successor airline.
Other revenue consists of management fees from Atlas 2014-1
Ltd which was acquired on 17 May 2018, proceeds from the sale
of spare parts and compensation from lessees in lieu of meeting
redelivery conditions.
The distribution of lease rental income by operator's geographical
region is as follows:

2017/18

USD ’000

43%

46%

Asia and the Pacific

25%

25%

South and Central America

16%

16%

North America

10%

9%
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20%

606,414

18%

2,106,296

60%

1,933,335

59%

707,425

20%

757,936

23%

3,500,200

100%

3,297,685

100%

2017/18

2016/17

Unsecured claim

-

4,405

Total other income

-

4,405

2017/18

2016/17

37,940

35,708

501

333

A lessee filed for reorganization in the United States in 2015/16 and
an unsecured claim was submitted and approved by the court.
During the year ended 30 June 2017, the claim was sold for a gain.
No other income or expenses has been recorded during 2017/18.

4 STAFF COSTS
USD '000
Wages and salaries
Pensions
Other social security costs

Average number of employees

Europe

Africa and the Middle East

686,479

220

237

38,661

36,278

207

179

2016/17

Geographical lease rental income split

Total revenue

2016/17

3 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES

Total staff costs
USD '000

2017/18

Future minimum contracted lease rentals

6%

4%

100%

100%

Nordic Aviation Capital

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 27.
No staff costs have been capitalized.

Nordic Aviation Capital
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5 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
USD '000

6 INCOME TAX
2017/18

2016/17

10,992

6,120

2,456

2,445

-

4

13,448

8,569

Financial income
Interest income
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Dividends from securities
Total financial income

USD '000

2017/18

2016/17

7,043

8,027

8,006

7,151

15,049

15,178

145,907

148,733

18,238

18,592

3,246

1,364

-668

-35

Current tax expense
Current tax expense
Deferred tax (benefit)/expense
Deferred tax reversal of obligation and reversal of temporary differences
Total tax on profit

Financial expenses
Interest on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
Amortization of capitalized borrowing costs
Foreign currency translation adjustments

229,333

207,535

33,024

31,871

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit before tax

1,215

1,623

Total financial expenses

263,572

241,029

Expected tax charge @ 12.5%

Net finance costs

250,124

232,460

Effects of:
Non-deductible items
Non-taxable items

Borrowing costs of USD 15.8 million regarding aircraft were
capitalized during 2017/18 (USD 42.5 million in 2016/17).

Income taxable at a different rate

-2,582

-4,616

Other

-3,185

-127

Total tax charge for the year

15,049

15,178

The Group conducts business in various locations including
Singapore (8% tax rate) and Denmark (22% tax rate).
The Group has received a notification from the Danish tax
authority concerning the tax treatment used by the Group in the
years 2012 to 2015 which is in the early stages of assessment by
the Group. The ultimate outcome of the matter cannot presently
be determined, and no provision for any liability that may result
has been made in the financial information.
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7 GOODWILL, LEASE PREMIUM, MAINTENANCE RIGHTS AND OTHER ASSETS

2017/18

Lease premium, maintenance rights and other assets

USD '000

Goodwill

Lease
Customer Maintenance
premium relationships
rights

Order
book

Total

Cost at 1 July

442,167

173,057

71,892

27,364

70,666

342,979

Additions for the year

-

2,439

-

-

-

2,439

Disposals

-

-3,396

-

-7,606

-

-11,002

Transferred to aircraft
Cost at 30 June

-

-

-

-499

-27,244

-27,743

442,167

172,100

71,892

19,259

43,422

306,673
36,493

5,991

2,139

-

36,744

-

-7,606

-

-11,408

Amortization of maintenance rights and other assets is included
in depreciation, impairment and amortization in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.
Lease premium is amortized separately as part of revenue.

At each reporting period, management performs an impairment
test of the carrying amount of goodwill. Impairment tests are
based on the management forecasts and other assumptions
required to comply with IAS 36. An estimate is made to determine
if parts of the enterprise, cash-generating units (“CGU”), related to
goodwill are able to generate sufficient positive net cash flows to
support the carrying amount of goodwill with an indefinite useful
life and other net assets of the enterprise.
For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount of
goodwill before impairment is allocated to the applicable CGU:

Amortization of lease premium, maintenance rights and other
assets is accelerated upon disposal of the aircraft or termination
of the lease to which the asset relates.

-

29,117

10,190

Amortization

-

28,614

Disposals

-

-3,802

-

53,929

16,181

-8,281

-

61,829

442,167

118,171

55,711

27,540

43,422

244,845

Leasing of aircraft

2016/17

Impairment testing indicates that the recoverable amount for the
CGUs is higher than the carrying amount and thus no impairment
of goodwill has been recorded.

Carrying amount at 30 June

-

During 2017/18, a number of aircraft were redelivered which were
assessed against their contractual return condition, in line with
our policy. In lieu of the expected return condition we released
maintenance rights of USD 10.6 million related to the seamless
transition of leases from an airline that entered administration to
the successor airline. Additionally USD 3.0 million liabilities were
released following redelivery of other aircraft.

Amortization and impairment losses at 1 July

Amortization and impairment losses at 30 June

-2,814

7 GOODWILL, LEASE PREMIUM, MAINTENANCE RIGHTS AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)

USD '000

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

442,167

442,167

Lease premium, maintenance rights and other assets

USD '000

Goodwill

Lease
Customer Maintenance
premium relationships
rights

Cost at 1 July

442,167

139,460

71,892

Additions for the year

-

40,577

Disposals

-

-6,980

Transferred to Aircraft

-

Cost at 30 June

Order
book

Total

58,030

84,933

354,315

-

-26,634

-

13,943

-

1,098

-

-5,882

-

-5,130

-14,267

-19,397

27,364

70,666

342,979

442,167

173,057

71,892

Amortization and impairment losses at 1 July

-

15,982

4,199

-

-

20,181

Amortization

-

20,115

5,991

-3,912

-

22,194

Disposals

-

-6,980

-

1,098

-

-5,882

Amortization and impairment losses at 30 June

-

29,117

10,190

-2,814

-

36,493

442,167

143,940

61,702

30,178

70,666

306,486

Carrying amount at 30 June

Lease premium consist of USD 147.8 million lease premium
assets and USD 29.6 million lease premium liabilities.
Maintenance rights consist of USD 43.4 million maintenance
rights assets and USD 15.9 million maintenance rights liabilities.
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8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2017/18

Aircraft

Predelivery
payments

Buildings

Fixtures and
fittings, tools
and equipment

Cost at 1 July

5,555,174

85,250

11,924

1,381

5,653,729

Additions for the year

1,383,942

91,295

-

1,591

1,476,828

USD '000

Total

Transferred from maintenance rights
and order book

27,743

-

-

-

27,743

Transferred predelivery payments

71,060

-71,060

-

-

-

Transferred to assets held for sale
Disposals
Cost at 30 June

-20,035

-

-

-

-20,035

-156,280

-380

-

-

-156,660

6,861,604

105,105

11,924

2,972

6,981,605

Depreciation and impairment losses at 1 July

291,311

-

1,373

317

293,001

Depreciation

235,703

-

792

323

236,818

2,519

-

-

-

2,519

Transferred to assets held for sale

-3,250

-

-

-

-3,250

Disposals

-6,564

-

-

-

-6,564

519,719

-

2,165

640

522,524

6,341,885

105,105

9,759

2,332

6,459,081

Impairment losses

Depreciation and impairment losses at 30 June
Carrying amount at 30 June

2016/17

Aircraft

Predelivery
payments

Buildings

Fixtures and
fittings, tools
and equipment

Cost at 1 July

4,374,608

110,576

11,924

420

4,497,528

Additions for the year

1,391,277

60,797

-

961

1,453,035

Transferred from maintenance rights
and order book

19,397

-

-

-

19,397

Transferred predelivery payments

82,592

-82,592

-

-

-

USD '000

Transferred to assets held for sale

Total

-19,269

-

-

-

-19,269

-3,531

-

-

-296,962

5,555,174

85,250

11,924

1,381

5,653,729

Depreciation and impairment losses at 1 July

100,917

-

587

203

101,707

Depreciation

200,089

-

786

114

200,989

3,892

-

-

-

3,892

-2,755

-

-

-

-2,755

-10,832

-

-

-

-10,832

Cost at 30 June

Impairment losses
Transferred to assets held for sale
Disposals
Depreciation and impairment losses at 30 June
Carrying amount at 30 June
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At 30 June 2018, an impairment review identified that two aircraft
with a net book value of USD 40.6 million were impaired by USD
2.4 million of which USD 1.7 million is a result of anticipated values
to be obtained through sale of the aircraft.
At 30 June 2017, an impairment review identified that four aircraft
with a net book value of USD 41.5 million were impaired by USD
3.9 million of which USD 2.2 million is a result of anticipated values
to be obtained through sale of the aircraft.

291,311

-

1,373

317

293,001

5,263,863

85,250

10,551

1,064

5,360,728

Nordic Aviation Capital

Certain financings have concentration and/or loan-to-value
limitations which may require additional repayments as a result
of the purchase or sale of an aircraft.
At 30 June 2018, security of USD 2.7 million (USD 2.9 million at 30
June 2017) had been provided to lenders for buildings with a carrying amount of USD 9.8 million (USD 10.6 million at 30 June 2017).

Lease agreements, lease rentals and insurance amounts have
been assigned to the lender, mortgages registered with the mortgagor and letters of indemnity totaling USD 5.0 billion have been
issued as of 30 June 2018 (USD 4.5 billion as of 30 June 2017),
providing security in aircraft. The security has been registered
with the aviation authority of the country or in its national register.

USD '000

2017/18

2016/17

Depreciation, impairment and amortization:
Goodwill, lease premium, maintenance rights and other assets
Property, plant and equipment

36,744

22,194

239,337

204,881

276,081

227,075

246,677

206,175

790

900

Included in:
Aircraft-related depreciation, impairment and amortization
Administrative expenses

-293,431

Disposals

8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Revenue

28,614

20,000

Total depreciation, impairment and amortization

276,081

227,075

Nordic Aviation Capital
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11 INVESTMENT IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENT ENTITIES

9 OTHER ASSETS
30 June 2018

30 June 2017

10,161

10,206

Lease incentives

137,943

52,745

Total other assets

148,104

62,951

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

144,443

57,085

3,661

5,866

148,104

62,951

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

52,745

22,474

Additions

107,353

36,840

Amortization

-22,155

-6,569

Lease incentives at 30 June

137,943

52,745

USD '000
Deposits in connection with purchased aircraft

At 30 June 2018, the Group held a 50% ownership interest in KN
Operating Limited accounted for as a joint venture.
The joint venture is measured under the equity method as described in the accounting policy.
USD '000

USD '000
Non-current
Current
Total other assets
USD '000
Lease incentives at 1 July

The maturity profile of lease incentives is based on the
contractual expiry dates of the underlying leases.

Value at 1 July
Share of results of the JV
Value at 30 June

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Aircraft

16,785

16,514

Total Assets held for sale

16,785

16,514

Carrying amount at 1 July

16,514

-

USD '000
Current assets

Transferred from/to aircraft
Disposals
Carrying amount at 30 June

16,785

16,514

-16,514

-

16,785

16,514

30 June 2017

2,389

1,856

7,933

533

10,321

2,389

The Group’s share of the joint venture result for 2017/18 was
positively impacted by USD 7.8 million mainly from supplemental rent income associated with the seamless transition
of leases from an airline that entered administration to the
successor airline.
Summarized financial information of the joint venture and
a reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment
are set out below. The Group guarantees its share of the joint
venture’s liabilities.

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Non-current assets

59,007

66,649

Current assets

12,180

13,902

Non-current and current liabilities

55,032

75,774

Revenue

24,865

7,633

Profit / (loss)

15,866

1,375

Equity

16,155

4,777

The Group's percentage ownership of the investment

50%

50%

Nordic Aviation Capital
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USD '000
10 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

30 June 2018

At 30 June 2018 the Group had contracted for the sale of an
aircraft. The aircraft was transferred from property, plant and
equipment to assets held for sale.
At 30 June 2018 a USD 13.3 million loan for the aircraft held for sale
was outstanding, which was due for repayment upon the sale.
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12 RECEIVABLES FROM FINANCE LEASES

13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Amounts receivable under finance leases
Minimum lease payments:

The table below presents credit and default risk relating to the
Group's trade and other receivables by gross carrying amount:
30 June 2018

USD '000
0-1 year

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

19,068

6,832

USD '000

Neither past due
nor impaired

Past due and
not impaired

Impaired

Total

Measured at amortized cost:

1-5 years

75,873

29,538

� 5 years

46,229

6,868

Trade receivables

6,873

12,098

4,037

23,008

141,170

43,238

Other receivables

26,708

-

-

26,708

Less: future finance charges

-34,604

-10,191

Total

33,581

12,098

4,037

49,716

Present value of lease obligations

106,566

33,047
Aging of trade receivables

Present value of minimum lease payments:
0-1 year

10,874

4,015

1-5 years

54,286

22,771

� 5 years
Total Receivables from finance leases
Current
Non-current

Not past due

6,834
5,684

41,406

6,261

Less than 90 days past due

106,566

33,047

More than 90 days past due

10,490

Total

23,008

10,874

4,015

95,692

29,032

106,566

33,047

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Trade receivables

23,008

54,981

USD '000

Other receivables

26,708

48,865

Measured at amortized cost:

Total gross receivables

49,716

103,846

Total receivables from finance leases

30 June 2018

USD '000

The Group’s trade receivables are secured in full by security
deposits, maintenance reserves, letters of credit and the aircraft
for finance lease receivables.

13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
USD '000

30 June 2017

Less: Bad debt allowance

-4,037

-29,718

Trade and other receivables, net

45,679

74,128

Neither past due
nor impaired

Past due and
not impaired

Impaired

Total

Trade receivables

18,047

24,752

12,182

54,981

Other receivables

31,329

-

17,536

48,865

Total

49,376

24,752

29,718

103,846

Aging of trade receivables
Bad debt allowance for the year
USD '000
Allowance at 1 July
Written off during the year
Allowance for the year
Bad debt allowance at 30 June

USD '000

30 June 2017

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Not past due

20,175

-29,718

-13,083

Less than 90 days past due

16,392

24,016

-

More than 90 days past due

18,414

1,665

-16,635

Total

54,981

-4,037

-29,718
All trade receivables over 30 days are considered past due.
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14 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
USD '000

16 SHARE CAPITAL
30 June 2018

30 June 2017

186,240

135,790

Number of shares authorized and issued
Share price

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are summarized as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities relating to aircraft assets
Deferred tax assets relating to tax losses

-122,166

-76,713

26,943

23,048

Deferred tax liability

91,017

82,125

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Consolidated

Unrestricted bank balances

30 June 2017

1,001

1,001

1

1

Ordinary shares of USD 1

Deferred tax liabilities on IFRS transitional adjustments

USD '000

30 June 2018

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

95,095

227,382

Bank balances subject to withdrawal restrictions

178,754

62,479

Cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June

273,849

289,861

The Company has one class of ordinary voting shares which carry
no right to fixed income.

Capital contribution
During 2015/16, the shareholders made capital contributions of
USD 626.1 million which consisted of the forgiveness of a loan note
and a cash contribution.
Other reserves
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the
cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging instruments
used in cash flow hedges, pending subsequent recognition in profit or loss as the hedged cash flows or items affect profit or loss.

Cash subject to withdrawal restrictions represents cash securing the Group’s obligations under third party credit facilities in
addition to an amount drawn on a loan facility available for future
aircraft investments.
The Group maintains substantially all of its cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash balances in interest bearing accounts
with major financial institutions. Cash and cash equivalents are
stated at cost which approximates fair value.

Company
USD '000
Unrestricted bank balances
Bank balances subject to withdrawal restrictions
Cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June
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30 June 2018

30 June 2017

66,726

161,992

-

-

66,726

161,992
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17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS

17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
Group
30 June 2018

30 June 2017

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Aircraft financing

4,584,199

3,686,975

-

-

Other term loans

618,066

611,498

618,066

611,498

2,686

2,893

-

-

5,204,951

4,301,366

618,066

611,498

USD '000

Mortgage debt
Total credit institutions

Maturity of loans and borrowings
USD '000

Aircraft
financing

Other
term loans

Mortgage
debt

Total credit
institutions

0-1 year

1,198,247

468,066

237

1,666,550

1-5 years

2,426,755

150,000

967

2,577,722

959,197

-

1,482

960,679

4,584,199

618,066

2,686

5,204,951

� 5 years
Total

Aircraft financing consists of loans provided by commercial
banks, loans provided or guaranteed by various export credit
agencies, JOLCO structures, debt notes and notes issued in asset
backed securitizations.

Consolidated
30 June 2018

Company

As of 30 June 2018, 418 (424 including joint venture) aircraft were
subject to debt financing.
An increasing percentage of outstanding debt has been raised as
unsecured debt.

Consolidated
30 June 2017

Other term loans are unsecured subordinated financings raised
by the Group.
Mortgage debt consists of borrowings for buildings owned by the
Group. Buildings owned by the Group are subject to mortgages.
					

2017/18

Group

2016/17

USD '000

%

USD '000

%

Secured financing

3,509,383

67%

3,397,369

79%

Unsecured financing

1,695,568

33%

903,998

21%

Total financing

5,204,951

100%

4,301,367

100%

Unsecured financing consisting of other term loans and part of
aircraft financing made up 33% of total financing as of 30 June
2018 (up from 21% 30 June 2017).
As of 30 June 2018, 92 aircraft were financed with the proceeds
from unsecured bank loans and notes. 79 aircraft were financed
with proceeds funded directly or guaranteed by various export
credit agencies. A further 198 (204 including joint venture) aircraft
were financed by a combination of secured commercial bank
loans. Finally, the Group had issued notes in two ABS transactions
financing a pool of 49 aircraft.
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USD '000

Aircraft
financing

Other
term loans

Mortgage
debt

Total credit
institutions

0-1 year

874,032

461,522

232

1,335,786

1-5 years

1,728,630

149,976

948

1,879,554

� 5 years

1,084,313

-

1,713

1,086,026

Total

3,686,975

611,498

2,893

4,301,366

The Group has taken appropriate action to ensure timely refinancing of loans maturing within one year. As such the Group is in
advanced discussions with lenders to refinance in excess of USD
1 billion which currently matures within one year.

Security in the form of aircraft mortgages was in place for all
financed aircraft except those financed by unsecured loans and
notes. Guarantees were provided by the Company for all aircraft
financing except for notes issued in ABS transactions where the
financing is recourse to the underlying pool of aircraft and leases.
Aircraft financing and other term loans are conditional on the
Group fulfilling certain financial covenants. During the year and at
the reporting date, the Group met all financial covenants.

Nordic Aviation Capital

Nordic Aviation Capital

Annual report 2017/2018

67

Finance

Finance

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Consolidated
30 June 2018

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and
borrowings before impact of derivatives

Floating rate loans
Average nominal
interest rate

ECA aircraft financing

Year of
maturity

Principal

Libor + 2.00%

2025

7,873

Commercial aircraft financing

Libor + 1.10%-2.95%

2018-2026

1,791,269

Commercial junior aircraft financing

Libor + 6.50%-7.50%

2018-2022

Libor + 7.88%

2019

Floating Danish real estate
mortgage rate + 1.65%

2025-2032

2,686

Other term loans
Real estate mortgage

Consolidated
30 June 2017

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and
borrowings before impact of derivatives

Floating rate loans
USD '000

17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

USD '000

Average nominal
interest rate

ECA aircraft financing

Year of
maturity

Libor + 2.00%

2025

8,934

Commercial aircraft financing

Libor + 2.00%-3.25%

2018-2026

1,202,952

206,234

Commercial junior aircraft financing

Libor + 6.50%-7.85%

2018-2022

224,533

420,400

Other term loans

Libor + 7.88%

2018

420,400

Floating Danish real estate
mortgage rate + 1.65%

2025-2032

2,893

Real estate mortgage

2,428,462
Fixed rate loans

1,859,712
Fixed rate loans

ECA aircraft financing

3.68%

2018-2029

788,821

Commercial aircraft financing

4.63%

2018-2028

1,866,197

Other term loans

9.88%

2019

199,600

ECA aircraft financing

3.76%

2020-2027

1,118,878

Commercial aircraft financing

4.35%

2017-2026

1,218,253

Other term loans

9.88%

2018

199,600

2,854,618
Total loans and borrowings before capitalized loan costs
Capitalized loan costs (of which USD 22,683 will be expensed within one year)
Total carrying amount of loans and borrowings
Outstanding interest rate swaps made for hedging floating rate loans (notional)

5,283,080
-78,129
5,204,951
352,246

2,536,731
Total loans and borrowings before capitalized loan costs
Total carrying amount of loans and borrowings
Outstanding interest rate swaps made for hedging floating rate loans (notional)

Including the impact of interest rate swaps total floating rate
loans amounted to USD 1.1 billion while total fixed rate loans
amounted to USD 3.3 billion, as of 30 June 2017. Fixed rate debt
constituted 75% of loans and borrowings and floating rate debt
constituted 25% as of 30 June 2017.

Fair value of interest rate swaps (including cross currency interest
rate swaps) amounted to USD 11.0 million at 30 June 2018 and
was included in trade and other receivables. Notional amount of
interest rate swaps was 7% of total loans and borrowings.

Fair value of interest rate swaps amounted to USD 3.9 million of
30 June 2017 and was included in trade and other receivables.
Outstanding notional amount of interest rate swaps was 17% of
total loans and borrowings.
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4,396,443

Capitalized loan costs (of which USD 30,834 will be expensed within one year)

Including the impact of interest rate swaps, total floating rate debt
amounted to USD 2.1 billion while total fixed rate debt amounted
to USD 3.2 billion, as of 30 June 2018. Fixed rate debt constituted
61% of loans and borrowings and floating rate debt constituted
39% as of 30 June 2018.
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17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Company
30 June 2018

USD '000
0-1 year

17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Company
30 June 2017

Other
term loans

Total credit
institutions

468,066

468,066

Fixed rate loans

Average nominal
interest rate

Year of
maturity

9.88%

2018

Principal

1-5 years

150,000

150,000

Other term loans

Total

618,066

618,066

Total

199,600

Total carrying amount of loans and borrowings

620,000

Floating rate loans
Other term loans

Average nominal
interest rate

Year of
maturity

Libor+7.88%

2019

Total

Capitalized loan costs
420,400

-8,502

Total carrying amount of loans and borrowings

611,498

420,400

Fixed rate loans

Average nominal
interest rate

Year of
maturity

Other term loans

9.88%

2019

199,600

Total

199,600

Total carrying amount of loans and borrowings

620,000

Capitalized loan costs

Derivatives at fair value
All financial derivatives at the end of June 2018 and 2017
were fixed interest rate swaps and denominated in USD.
All derivatives entered into are for hedging purposes.

30 June 2018

-1,934

Total carrying amount of loans and borrowings

618,066

USD '000

Group
notional
contracts

Company
30 June 2017

Other
term loans

Total credit
institutions

0-1 year

461,498

461,498

1-5 years

150,000

150,000

Total

611,498

611,498

USD '000

Other term loans
Total

Average nominal
interest rate

Year of
maturity

Principal

Libor+7.88%

2018

420,400

Interest rate swaps

Nordic Aviation Capital

Assets

Liabilities

381,391

10,997

-

-

-

-

381,391

10,997

-

-

-

-

30 June 2017
Group
notional
contracts

Company
notional
contracts

Group fair
values
Assets

Liabilities

751,477

3,931

-

751,477

3,931

-

Company
fair values
Assets

Liabilities

-

-

-

-

-

-

Derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in cash flow hedges:
Interest rate swaps

420,400
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Liabilities

Company
fair values

Derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in cash flow hedges:

USD '000

Floating rate loans

Company
notional
contracts

Group fair
values
Assets
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17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

17 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The time periods in which the cash flows were expected to occur
and affect the financial statement of comprehensive income were
as follows:
USD '000
30 June 2018

USD '000
Cash Inflows
Cash Outflows

0-1 year

1-2 years

2-5 years

� 5 years

Total

29,409

30,083

235,691

52,368

347,551

-27,729

-27,374

-228,523

-52,071

-335,697

Loans and borrowings at 1 July

Cash Inflows
Cash Outflows

0-1 year

1-2 years

2-5 years

� 5 years

Total

33,674

29,290

195,206

75,480

333,650

-33,756

-28,872

-191,676

-74,938

-329,242

Total

611,498

2,893

4,301,366

-

-232

886,382

Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings

-15,263

-583

-

-15,846

Total changes from financing cash flows

871,351

-583

-232

870,536

-

-

25

25

25,873

7,151

-

33,024

223,936

15,424

65

239,425

-223,936

-15,424

-65

-239,425

25,873

7,151

-

33,024

4,584,199

618,066

2,686

5,204,951

Other changes
Interest expense
Interest paid
Total other changes

Consolidated

2017/18

2016/17

Adjustment to fair value for the period

3,233

13,891

Total

3,233

13,891

USD '000

Mortgage
debt

886,614

Loans and borrowings at 30 June

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income coming
from interest rate swaps were as follows:

Other term
loans

3,686,975

Amortization of capitalized borrowing costs
USD '000

Aircraft
financing

Proceeds from / (repayment of) indebtedness

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
30 June 2017

Consolidated
30 June 2018

Company
30 June 2018

USD '000

Amounts owed
by group
companies

Amounts owed
to group
companies

Other term
loans

Total

Loans and borrowings at 1 July

-267,343

5,731

611,498

349,886

Proceeds from / (repayment of) indebtedness

-428,686

440,376

-

11,690

Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings
Total changes from financing cash flows
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates

-

-

-583

-583

-428,686

440,376

-583

11,107

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,151

7,151

Other changes
Amortization of capitalized borrowing costs
Interest expense/income
Interest paid/received
Total other changes
Loans and borrowings at 30 June
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-30,054

134

15,424

-14,496

30,054

-134

-15,424

14,496

-

-

7,151

7,151

-696,029

446,107

618,066

368,144
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18 MAINTENANCE RESERVE LIABILITIES

20 DEFERRED INCOME
30 June 2018

USD '000

30 June 2017

USD '000

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

14,443

27,080

Non-current

434,789

315,329

Deferred lease rent income and rent payments received in advance

Current

237,807

233,098

Straight line rent adjustment

-4,192

-6,021

Total maintenance reserve liabilities

672,596

548,427

Total deferred income

10,251

21,059

Current

10,656

25,984

In many aircraft operating leases, the lessee has the obligation
to make periodic payments based on the usage of the aircraft.
These payments are made in arrears. The Group operates an
accrue-to-expected-cost method in relation to maintenance
reserves and supplement rent income. This requires the Group
to estimate future costs that will be required to be reimbursed to

the lessees under the leases based on the historical experience
and knowledge of the Group. Any amounts that are required
to be reimbursed are retained on the balance sheet as a
maintenance reserve liability. When the balance that is required
to be reimbursed is reached, any excess amounts over this are
recognized as supplemental rent income.

Non-current
Total deferred income

-405

-4,925

10,251

21,059

21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated
30 June 2018

30 June 2017

15,471

19,212

Deposits held

168,862

154,763

Accrued costs

22,387

14,992

Other payables

18,146

31,160

224,866

220,127

70,933

76,600

Non-current

153,933

143,527

Total trade and other payables

224,866

220,127

USD '000
Trade payables

Total trade and other payables
Current

The only non-current items are related to deposits held. All other items are current.
Company
30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Other payables

9,985

9,484

Total trade and other payables

9,985

9,484

USD '000

Current

9,985

9,484

Total trade and other payables

9,985

9,484
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Treasury policy and financial risk management
The financial risks within the Group and the Company are managed by Group Treasury and Group Funding.
The Board has identified the following financial risks as the most
significant to the Group:
——
——
——
——

Liquidity and financing risk
Interest rate risk
Currency risk
Credit risk

The exposure and policies/processes for managing these risks
are mentioned below.
Liquidity and financing risk
Financing risk is defined as the risk that loans cannot be refinanced when necessary, that financing cannot be obtained
or that refinancing is only possible at unfavorable terms. It is
incumbent on Group Treasury and Group Funding to continuously
forecast the Group’s liquidity requirements and to continuously
maintain contact with relevant credit institutions to maintain
access to competitive financing.

With the aim of managing the liquidity risk, the Group ensures
that sufficient cash is available to meet payment obligations and
adhere to covenant compliance under the respective loan agreements. The liquidity reserve consists of cash and cash equivalents and unutilized credit facilities. 30 June 2018 cash and cash
equivalents amounted to USD 273.8 million which included USD
95.1 million of unrestricted cash and USD 96.9 million available for
future aircraft investment. In addition, there were unutilized credit
facilities of USD 431 million.
The table below shows the maturity structure for the Group’s
financial liabilities, including derivative assets and liabilities. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows. For interest rate swaps the cash flows have been
estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of
the reporting period.

As stated in Note 17 - Loans and borrowings - the Group's
interest-bearing liabilities are primarily comprised of ECA,
commercial aircraft financing and other term loans.
Aircraft financing and other term loans are conditional on the
Group meeting certain financial covenants. During the year and at
the reporting date, the Group met all financial covenants.
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Consolidated
30 June 2018

Carrying amounts

Capital amounts
and assumed
interest

Within
1 year

Between
2-5 years

Beyond
5 years

Aircraft financing

4,584,199

5,341,910

1,409,344

2,871,783

1,060,783

Other term loans

618,066

689,516

532,274

157,242

-

2,686

2,899

275

1,063

1,561

Trade and other payables

224,866

224,866

70,933

87,405

66,528

Maintenance reserve liabilities

672,596

672,596

237,807

428,645

6,144

6,102,413

6,931,787

2,250,633

3,546,138

1,135,016

USD '000
Non-derivatives (liabilities)

Mortgage debt

Total non-derivatives (liabilities)

21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Consolidated
30 June 2017

Carrying amounts

Capital amounts
and assumed
interest

Within
1 year

Between
2-5 years

Beyond
5 years

Aircraft financing

3,689,234

4,375,286

1,056,157

2,136,020

1,183,109

Other term loans

609,239

681,167

530,715

150,452

-

2,893

3,161

279

1,072

1,810

Trade and other payables

220,127

220,127

76,600

55,612

87,915

Maintenance reserve liabilities

548,427

548,427

233,098

281,082

34,247

5,069,920

5,828,168

1,896,849

2,624,238

1,307,081

USD '000
Non-derivatives (liabilities)

Derivatives (asset)

Mortgage debt

Total non-derivatives (liabilities)

Derivatives (asset)

Interest rate swap

10,997

11,854

1,680

9,877

297

Interest rate swap

3,931

4,408

-82

3,948

542

Total derivatives (asset)

10,997

11,854

1,680

9,877

297

Total derivatives (asset)

3,931

4,408

-82

3,948

542

Company
30 June 2017

Company
30 June 2018

Carrying amounts

Capital amounts
and assumed
interest

Within
1 year

Between
2-5 years

Beyond
5 years

611,498

681,167

530,715

150,452

-

Amount owed to Group companies

5,731

5,731

5,731

-

-

Trade and other payables

9,484

9,484

9,484

-

-

626,713

696,382

545,930

150,452

-

Carrying amounts

Capital amounts
and assumed
interest

Within
1 year

Between
2-5 years

Beyond
5 years

Other term loans

618,066

689,515

532,274

157,242

-

Other term loans

Amount owed to Group companies

446,107

446,107

446,107

-

-

9,985

9,985

9,985

-

-

1,074,158

1,145,607

988,366

157,242

-

Total non-derivatives (liabilities)

USD '000

Non-derivatives (liabilities)

Non-derivatives (liabilities)

Trade and other payables
Total non-derivatives (liabilities)
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk consists of the risk that a change of market rates
has a negative impact on the consolidated statement of profit and
loss or statement of financial position.
The Group’s strategy is to manage its exposure to interest rate
risk. Ongoing monitoring and regular reviews define the foundation for interest rate hedging. Liabilities as well as assets are
taken into consideration. Currently, the majority of the Group’s
leases are at fixed rental rates and the Group manages its overall
exposure by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. As of 30
June 2018, fixed rate debt including interest rate swaps constituted 61% of the total debt and floating rate debt constituted 39%
of the total outstanding debt. Interest rate swaps constituted 7%
of total debt. More information about floating and fixed rate loans
can be found in Note 17 – Loans and borrowings.
Sensitivity analysis, interest rate risk
At the current fixed-to-floating interest ratio, an increase or
decrease of the market interest rate by 1 percentage-point will
increase or decrease the Group’s annual interest expenses by approximately USD 21 million and decrease or increase other comprehensive income by approximately USD 10 million. Therefore,
an increase of the market interest rate by 1 percentage-point will
impact total comprehensive income negatively by approximately
USD 11 million and a decrease will have the opposite impact.
Currency risk
Exposure to currency risk can be divided into transaction exposure and translation exposure.
Transaction exposure
All aircraft purchase agreements are negotiated in USD and the
majority of revenue is in USD. Funding is mainly denominated in
USD. At times attractive funding may be sourced in other major
currencies the exposure of which is considered for hedging into
USD. During the year, the Group issued notes of EUR 25 million
which were fair value hedged to USD at inception.
Local expenses, general and administrative expenses are
incurred in foreign currencies, primarily EUR and DKK. A change
in foreign exchange rates would not have a material impact on
operating profit or cash flow.
Translation exposure
Translation exposure arises in the translation of the statements of financial position and statements of profit or loss for
foreign subsidiaries to USD. As all subsidiaries are preparing and
presenting financial statements in USD no material translation
exposure exists.

21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

lessees’ credit risk. The creditworthiness of each new customer
is assessed and the Group obtains security in the form of cash
and/or letters of credit to lower the overall credit exposure against
each individual lessee. The credit assessment is based upon
qualitative and quantitative information about the lessees such
as business results, ownership, management team and financial
performance, including forecast, accident and incidents history,
maintenance capabilities, etc. to the extent that the information is
publicly available or disclosed.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and other comprehensive income

In considering whether past due receivables are required to be
provided for, security deposits, maintenance reserves, letters of
credit and the underlying aircraft value for finance lease receivables are taken into account.

Available-for-sale financial assets (Level 3 fair values)

Default by any one of the Group’s major customers could have a
material impact on the Group’s cash flow.

Consolidated

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Interest rate derivatives

10,997

3,931

Total financial assets at fair value

10,997

3,931

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

Available for sale financial assets 1 July

-

17,100

Net change in fair value (included in OCI)

-

4,405

Disposal

-

-21,505

Available-for-sale financial assets

-

-

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

USD '000
Financial assets at fair value

USD '000

For more information about receivables and aging analysis, see
Note 13 - Trade and other receivables.
The Group holds cash balances which give rise to credit risk
on counterparties which is managed by limiting the aggregate
amount of and duration of exposure to any one bank. The Group
minimizes exposure onto any bank which does not hold a publicly
available credit rating of at least A- (S&P & Fitch) or A3 (Moody’s).
The duration of any cash deposit is limited to a maximum of 90
days.
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The fair value of fixed rate loans is determined as the present
value of the expected payments, discounted at a rate equal to the
relevant USD zero-coupon rates with addition of an estimated
credit spread. Since the Group on an ongoing basis enters into
financing agreements, the credit spread, which is a significant
input to the valuation, is based on an estimate supported by observable data (Level 2 measurement in the fair value hierarchy).

Receivables and cash and cash equivalents
USD '000
Financial assets not measured at fair value
Investment in equity accounted entities

10,321

2,389

106,566

33,047

Trade and other receivables

34,682

70,197

Other assets (deposits)

10,161

10,206

Receivables from finance leases

Cash and cash equivalents

273,849

289,861

Total financial assets not measured at fair value

435,579

405,700

Total financial assets

446,576

409,631

The estimated fair value of our fixed rate debt is USD 32 million
below the net book value of our fixed rate debt
The carrying amounts of other financial assets and liabilities are
considered to be reasonable estimates of the fair value of each
class of financial assets and liabilities.
Carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities
by measurement category
The table below presents the carrying amounts for financial
assets and liabilities by measurement category in IAS 39.

Credit risk
The Group is subject to the credit risk of its lessees as to collection of rental payments under its operating and finance leases.
The Group has implemented effective ongoing monitoring of
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Receivables and cash and cash equivalents
30 June 2018

USD '000

30 June 2017

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
4,660,394

Other term loans

620,000

Capitalized loan costs

Investment in subsidiaries
Amounts owed to Group companies
Cash and cash equivalents

2,686
-78,129

5,204,951

4,301,366

Trade and other payables

224,866

220,127

Maintenance reserve liabilities

672,596

548,427

Total financial liabilities not measured at fair value

6,102,413

5,069,920

Total financial liabilities

6,102,413

5,069,920

Financial instruments measured at fair value in the balance sheet
consisted of financial derivatives used to hedge the interest rate
risk. All assets and liabilities except available-for-sale financial
assets were level 2 in the fair value hierarchy in IFRS 13.

USD '000

Level 3. Available- for-sale financial assets were measured at fair
value based on what the asset could be exchanged for in at arm’s
length transactions between informed and willing parties at the
balance sheet date. During 2016/17, the claim was sold for a gain.
See note 3.

The Group held an unsecured claim which was classified as available-for-sale financial assets with a fair value of USD 17.1 million
at 30 June 2016. The fair value of this claim was categorized as
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30 June 2017

1,512,757

1,407,331

696,029

267,343

66,726

161,992

Total financial assets not measured at fair value

2,275,512

1,836,666

Total financial assets

2,275,512

1,836,666

Company
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
USD '000

Other term loans
Capitalized loan costs
Amounts owed to Group companies

Nordic Aviation Capital

30 June 2018

30 June 2017

618,066

611,498

446,107

5,731

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Trade and other payables

80

30 June 2018

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Aircraft financing
Mortgage debt

Company

620,000
-1,934

9,985

9,484

Total financial liabilities not measured at fair value

1,074,158

626,713

Total financial liabilities

1,074,158

626,713

Nordic Aviation Capital
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24 CHANGE IN RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

22 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

USD '000
Capital commitments
The Group had committed to acquiring 58 ATR and Embraer
aircraft at 30 June 2018 (55 aircraft at 30 June 2017). Further, the
Group had options to purchase 16 aircraft from ATR (47 ATR’s at
30 June 2017). Total contracted firm order commitments at 30
June 2018 were USD 1.1 billion (USD 1.1 billion at 30 June 2017).

Change in inventory
Change in deposits (assets)
Change in trade and other receivables
Change in available-for-sale financial assets
Change in maintenance reserves liability

In addition the Group had entered into letters of intent to acquire
26 aircraft.

Change in trade and other payables

Non-cancellable operating leases
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to
non-cancellable operating leases were payable as follows:

2017/18

2016/17

-3,845

2,650

45

2,834

28,449

-33,387

-

17,100

124,169

158,532

4,739

21,896

Change in deferred income (liabilities)

-10,808

20,157

Total change in receivables and payables

142,749

189,782

USD '000

2017/18

2016/17

25 OTHER ADJUSTING AND NON-CASH ITEMS
30 June 2018

30 June 2017

0-1 year

6,006

6,006

Depreciation, amortization and impairment

297,447

232,859

1-5 years

21,665

22,600

Lease incentive additions

-89,956

-16,796

� 5 years

18,464

22,808

Profit from the sale of fixed assets

2,796

-13,295

Total commitments and contingent liabilities

46,135

51,414

Fair value adjustment of hedging instruments

2,892

12,108

USD '000

Share of profit/loss in equity-accounted investments

Expensed payments for operating leases amounted to
USD 6.7 million in 2017/18 (USD 10.7 million in 2016/17).

Other non-cash items
Total other adjusting and non-cash items

-7,933

-533

1,267

1,681

206,513

216,024

2017/18

2016/17

23 PORTFOLIO ACQUISITION
26 FEE PAID TO AUDITORS
On 17 May 2018 the Group acquired all the aircraft assets owned
by Aldus Aviation Fund (AAF).

USD '000
Audit services

746

654

Since 2016, NAC had managed 29 E-jets owned by AAF. NAC
acquired all E-notes in ATLAS 2014-1 Limited.

Tax advice services

532

263

Other non-audit services

31

20

The following are the main balances acquired:

Total fee paid to auditors

1,309

937

USD '000

Auditor’s remuneration, exclusive of VAT, for work carried out for
the Group in respect of the financial year is as per above.

Aircraft

545,990

Interest-bearing external debt

410,189
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27 RELATED PARTIES

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group. A
person or a close member of that person’s family is related to that
Group if that person has significant influence or power over the
Group or is a member of key management. An entity is a related
party if it is a member of the same group or is related to the entity
by means of investment or is controlled by a person related to
the Group. A related party transaction is defined as a transfer of
resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity and
a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.
Related parties exercising control
NAC Luxembourg II S.A., the shareholding entity, is owned by
NAC Luxembourg I S.A., the ultimate shareholding entity. EQT
and KIRKBI hold 67% of the shares in NAC Luxembourg I S.A. and
Martin Møller holds the remaining 33% of the shares.
Significant related party transactions
One Director has provided NAC with a loan of USD 150 million as at
30 June 2018 which expires within five years. The loan carries an
appropriate market interest rate. See Note 17.
Related parties exercising significant influence
Related parties exercising significant influence comprise the
Board of Directors and Executive Management.
Key management personnel consist of the Directors of the
Company. Total compensation paid to the Directors was USD 5.6
million in 2017/18 (USD 5.9 million in 2016/17). In addition, interest
and related fees paid concerning a shareholder loan amounted to
USD 15.0 million in 2017/18 (USD 20.4 million in 2016/17).
Subsidiaries
Aruba: Belgiestraat 36, Oranjestad, Aruba
(100% owned. These subsidiaries engage in aircraft leasing):
E190 MSN 418 A.V.V. and E190 MSN 431 A.V.V
Bermuda: Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM11,
Hamilton. (E-notes 100% owned. This subsidiary engages in
aircraft leasing) ATLAS 2014-1 Ltd
British Virgin Islands: Palm Grove House PO Box 438, Tortola,
Road Town, British Virgin Islands (100% owned. These subsidiaries engage in aircraft leasing and management services):
Fortuna Aviation Holding Limited, Jetscape Aviation Group Ltd.,
Jetscape Commercial Jets Limited, Jetscape Acquisitions Limited
and Tyche Aviation Holding Limited
Canada: 1 First Canadian Place, Suite 3400, Toronto, Ontario M5X
1A4 Canada (100% owned. This subsidiary engages in management services): NAC Aviation Canada, Inc.
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Cayman Islands: Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309,
Ugland House KY-1104, Grand Cayman (100% beneficially owned.
This subsidiary engages in aircraft leasing and management
services): Eagle I Limited
Cyprus: (100% owned. These subsidiaries engage in aircraft
leasing): NAC Aviation Cyprus 1 Ltd, NAC Aviation Cyprus 2 Ltd.,
NAC Aviation Cyprus 3 Ltd. and Merlano Ltd.
Denmark: Stratusvej 12, Billund, Denmark
(100% owned. These subsidiaries engage in aircraft leasing
and maintenance): Nordic Aviation Capital A/S, Nordic Aviation
Financing ApS, NAC Aviation 2 A/S and NAC Aviation 3 A/S
France: 18 rue Pasquier 75008 Paris, France
(100% owned. These subsidiaries engage in aircraft leasing and
management services): NAC Aviation France 1 SAS, NAC Aviation
France 2 SAS, NAC Aviation France 4 SAS, NAC Aviation France 5
SAS, NAC Aviation France 6 SAS, NAC Aviation France 7 SAS, NAC
Services France SAS and Aldus Leasing (France) SAS
Ireland: 5th Floor, Bedford Place, Henry Street, Limerick Ireland
(100% owned. These subsidiaries engage in aircraft leasing and
management services): Nordic Aviation Contractor (Ireland) Ltd,
Nordic Aviation Services Ltd, NAC Services 2 Ltd, NAC Aviation 2
Ltd, NAC Aviation 3 Ltd, NAC Aviation 4 Ltd, NAC Aviation 6 Ltd, NAC
Aviation 7 Ltd, NAC Aviation 8 Ltd, NAC Aviation 9 Ltd, NAC Aviation
10 Ltd, NAC Aviation 11 Ltd, NAC Aviation 12 Ltd, NAC Aviation
14 Ltd, NAC Aviation 15 Ltd, NAC Aviation 16 Ltd, NAC Aviation
17 Ltd, NAC Aviation 18 Ltd, NAC Aviation 19 Ltd, NAC Aviation
20 Ltd, NAC Aviation 21 Ltd, NAC Aviation 22 Ltd, NAC Aviation
23 Ltd, NAC Aviation 24 Ltd, NAC Aviation 25 Ltd, NAC Aviation
26 Ltd, NAC Aviation 27 Ltd, NAC Aviation 28 Ltd, NAC Aviation 29
Ltd, NAC Aviation 30 Ltd, NAC Aviation 31 Ltd, NK Leasing Ltd, NK
Aviation Ltd, Argos Aviation One Ireland DAC, Argos Aviation Two
Ireland DAC, Argos Aviation Three Ireland DAC, Argos Aviation
Four Ireland DAC, Argos Aviation Five Ireland DAC, Argos Aviation
Six Ireland DAC, Astona (Ireland) DAC, Fortuna Aviation DAC,
Melanajet (Ireland) DAC, Minerva Airlease One DAC, Minerva
Airlease Three DAC, Minerva Airlease Two DAC, Rockjet (Ireland)
DAC, Tyche Aviation DAC, Freyja Aviation One Ireland DAC, Freyja
Aviation Two Ireland Limited, Freyja Aviation Three Ireland Limited,
Freyja Aviation Four Ireland Limited, Aldus Portfolio Leasing Ltd,
Aldus Portfolio A Ltd, Aldus Portfolio B Ltd, Aldus Portfolio T Ltd,
Tiradentes Portfolio A Ltd, Tiradentes Portfolio B Ltd, Tiradentes
Portfolio C Ltd and Tiradentes Portfolio D Ltd

Singapore: 20 Bendemeer Road #03-12 Singapore 339914
(100% owned. These subsidiaries engage in aircraft leasing
and management services): Nordic Aviation Capital Pte, Nordic
Aviation Leasing Pte Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Two Pte Ltd,
Nordic Aviation Leasing Six Pte Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing
Seven Pte Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Eight Pte Ltd, Nordic
Aviation Leasing Nine Pte Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Eleven
Pte Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Twelve Pte Ltd, Nordic Aviation
Leasing Fourteen Pte. Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Fifteen Pte.
Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Sixteen Pte. Ltd, Nordic Aviation
Leasing Seventeen Pte. Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Eighteen Pte.
Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Nineteen Pte. Ltd, Nordic Aviation
Leasing Twenty Pte. Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Twenty One Pte.
Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Twenty Two Pte. Ltd, Nordic Aviation
Leasing Twenty Three Pte. Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Twenty
Four Pte. Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Twenty Five Pte. Ltd, Nordic
Aviation Leasing Twenty Six Pte. Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing
Twenty Seven Pte. Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Twenty Eight Pte.
Ltd, Nordic Aviation Leasing Twenty Nine Pte. Ltd and Nordic
Aviation Financing One Pte Ltd

United States – Delaware: 2140 South Dupont Highway, Camden,
Delaware 19934 United States (100% owned. These subsidiaries
engage in aircraft leasing): E Notes Investor LLC, Jetscape, Inc.
(Delaware), E Note investor Malta LLC, NAC Aviation US LLC, Trevian Investments LLC, Trevian Holdings LLC, ATLAS 2014-1 LLC and
E-Note Investor Malta LLC
United States – Florida: 401 East Las Olas Blvd, Suite 1700,
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 United States (100% owned.
These subsidiaries engage in aircraft leasing and management
services): JAG VIII LLC, JAG XV LLC, JAG XVI LLC, JAG XVII LLC, JAG
IX LLC, JAG XXI LLC, JAG XII LLC, JAG XVIII LLC, JAG XIV LLC, JAG XIX
LLC Jetscape Acquisitions LLC, Jetscape Aviation Group LLC and
Nordic Aviation Capital Inc.
KN Operating Ltd is a joint venture, which is owned 50%.

Sweden: Trädgårdsvägen 34, Bjärred, 237 35, Sweden
(100% owned. These subsidiaries engage in aircraft leasing):
Enclave Aviation Sweden AB and Magni Aviation One Sweden AB
United Kingdom: Tricor Suite, 4th Floor, 50 Mark Lane EC3R 7QR
London, United Kingdom (100% owned. These subsidiaries engage in aircraft leasing and management services): NAC Aviation
UK 1 Ltd., NAC Aviation UK 2 Ltd., NAC Aviation UK 3 Ltd., NAC
Services UK Limited and Aldus Leasing (UK) Ltd

Investment in subsidiaries
USD '000
At 1 July
Additions
At 30 June

Company
30 June 2018

30 June 2017

1,407,331

1,407,276

105,426

55

1,512,757

1,407,331

28 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Malta: Progetta House, Office 62-64, Triq it-Torri, BKR 4012,
Swatar Birkirkara, Malta (100% owned. These subsidiaries engage in aircraft leasing and management services): Argos Aviation
Malta Limited, Freyja Aviation One Malta Limited, NAC Services
Malta Limited and Minerva Aviation Malta Limited

Nordic Aviation Capital

As regards to other matters, the Directors consider the state of
affairs of the Group and Company to be satisfactory and there has
been no material change since the statement of financial position

Nordic Aviation Capital

date. The normal operations of the Group have continued which
has resulted in several aircraft acquisitions, disposals and lessee
transitions.
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29 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the EU ("IFRS") and the Companies Act 2014.
IFRS applied by the Group in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are those that were effective and
applicable at 30 June 2018.

B. New IFRS not yet adopted
There are a number of relatively minor presentation and clarification updates that are not yet effective and will have a limited
impact on the financial statements. The following new standards
approved by the IASB will have most relevance to the Company
and Group, but were not effective at 30 June 2018, and have not
been applied in preparing these financial statements:
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – This standard will replace the IAS
39, which deals with the accounting treatment of financial instruments, from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
IFRS 9 consists of the following key areas which represent changes from that of IAS 39:
——

Revised requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets and consequential
changes in the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities, mainly relating to the recognition
of changes in fair value due to changes in own credit
risk on fair value designated financial liabilities in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) as opposed to the
statement of profit and loss.

——

An expected credit loss (“ECL”) impairment model.

——

Revised requirements and simplifications for hedge
accounting.

The Group has considered the impact of IFRS 9 on the financial
statements particularly in respect of an expected loss credit model being applied to receivables and does not believe that there will
be a material adjustment to the accounts owing to the security
arrangements in place with lessees.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This standard will replace the existing revenue standards and
their related interpretations and the effective date is for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard sets
out the requirements for recognizing revenue that applies to all
contracts with customers (except for contracts that are within
the scope of the standards on leases, insurance contracts or
financial instruments).
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The core principle of the standard is that revenue recognized reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for the transfer of promised goods or services to
the customer. The standard incorporates a five-step analysis to
determine the amount and timing of revenue recognition.
The standard does not apply to revenue associated with leases
and therefore does not impact the majority of the Group’s revenue.
IFRS 16 Leases
This standard will replace IAS 17 as well as the related interpretations and sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a
contract, being the lessee (customer) and the lessor (supplier).
The effective date will be annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019.
The core principle of this standard is that the lessee and lessor
should recognize all rights and obligations arising from leasing
arrangements in the statement of financial position.
The most significant change pertaining to the accounting treatment of operating leases is from the lessees’ perspective. IFRS
16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating or
finance leases as is required by IAS 17 and introduces a single
lessee accounting model, where a right of use (“ROU”) asset
together with a liability for the future payments is to be recognized for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value.
The lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17 have not changed
substantially in terms of this standard.
A lessor hence continues to classify its leases as operating leases
or finance leases and accounts for these as it is currently done
in terms of IAS 17. In addition, the standard requires lessors to
provide enhanced disclosures about their leasing activities and,
in particular, about their exposure to residual value risk and how it
is managed.
The main impact that the Group see’s in IFRS 16 is in relation to
the operating lease commitments that the Group currently has.
As discussed in the preceding paragraphs this will mean that the
statement of financial position will be grossed up with an ROU
asset and related liability. The Group is still finalising its assessment of this impact but the expected impact would be similar to
the operating lease commitments as disclosed in note 22.

C. Basis for preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
historical cost basis as modified to include fair valuation of certain
financial instruments in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
EU and as applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

Nordic Aviation Capital

The individual financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and as
applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2014. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in Section 304 of the
Companies Act 2014 which exempts a company that publishes its
Company in Croup financial statements together from presenting to its members its Company statement of profit and loss and
related notes that form part of the approved company financial
statements.
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.
The Directors feel that this is the appropriate basis for preparation as they have considered and are satisfied with the adequacy
of the Group and Company’s funding, borrowing facilities, cash
flows and profitability for at least the next 12 months from the
date of the approval of these financial statements.
The Group has taken appropriate action to ensure timely refinancing of loans maturing within one year. As such the Group is in
advanced discussions with lenders to refinance in excess of USD
1 billion which currently matures within one year.

D. Estimates and judgement
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized
in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that year or in the year of the revision and future years if the
revision affects both current and future years.
Goodwill
In impairment testing of goodwill, an estimate is made to determine how parts of the enterprise related to the goodwill will
be able to generate sufficient future positive net cash flows to
support the value of goodwill with an indefinite useful life and
other net assets of the enterprise in question. The estimate of the
future free net cash flows is based on a forecast for subsequent
years. A forecast for the coming years is based on specific future
business initiatives for which the risks relating to key parameters
have been assessed and recognized in estimated future free cash
flows.

Nordic Aviation Capital

These assumptions and the judgements of management that
are based on them are subject to change as new information becomes available. Changing the assumptions selected by management, in particular the discount rate and growth rate assumptions
used in the cash flow projections, could significantly affect the
Group’s impairment evaluation and future results.
Property, plant and equipment
In accounting for property, plant and equipment, the Group makes
estimates about the expected useful lives and the estimated
residual value of aircraft. In determining these estimates, management relies upon actual industry experience supported by
estimates received from independent appraisers and considers
anticipated utilization of the aircraft.
In accordance with IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment, the
Group’s owned and leased aircraft are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the aircraft may not be recoverable. An impairment review involves consideration as to whether the carrying
amount of an aircraft is not recoverable and is in excess of its fair
value. In such circumstances, an impairment charge is recognized
as a write down of the carrying amount of the aircraft to the higher of value in use or fair value less cost to sell.
The review for recoverability has a level of subjectivity and
requires the use of judgement in the assessment of estimated
future cash flows associated with the use of an item of property,
plant and equipment and its eventual disposition. Future cash
flows are assumed to occur under current market conditions and
assume adequate time for a sale between a willing buyer and
a willing seller. Expected future lease rates are based upon all
relevant information available, including the existing lease, current
contracted rates for similar aircraft, appraisal data and industry
trends.
Factors considered in estimating the future cash flows are
impacted by changes in contracted lease payments, future projected lease payments, transition costs, estimated downtime and
estimated residual values.
Maintenance reserves
The Group records supplemental amounts that are not expected
to be reimbursed during the lease as lease revenue when the
Group has reliable information that it will not be required to make
reimbursements of the amounts collected based on utilization
and a maintenance forecasting model that estimates the maintenance inflows and outflows through lease expiration date.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value
and are thereafter measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate less any provision for impairment. Trade and other
receivables are discounted when the time value of money is considered material. A provision for impairment of trade receivables
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29 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

is recognized when there is objective evidence that the Group will
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original
terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization and default or delinquency in payments are
considered indicators that a trade receivable may be impaired.

E. Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are expressed in US
Dollars (“USD”), as this is the Company’s functional currency,
being the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the Group and Company operates. All financial information
presented in USD has been rounded to the nearest thousand USD
unless otherwise stated.

F. Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those enterprises, which are controlled by the
Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly
or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an
enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using
uniform accounting policies for transactions and other events in
similar circumstances.

G. Significant accounting policies
Lease rental income
The Group leases aircraft principally under operating leases and
records rental income on a straight-line basis over the life of the
lease as it is earned. In some cases, leases provide for rentals
based on aircraft usage which may be calculated based on hours
or on cycles operated. The Group accounts for lease rentals
under such leases on a basis that represents the time pattern in
which the revenue is earned.
Most of the Group’s leases require lease rental payments to be
paid in advance. Rentals received but unearned at the reporting
date are recorded as deferred income.
Financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses comprise interest income and
expenses, financial lease income, amortization of costs of permanent loan facilities as well as gains and losses recognized on
securities, receivables, payables and transactions denominated
in foreign currencies. Borrowing costs are recognized in profit or
loss using the effective interest method.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Major
improvements and modifications incurred in connection with the
acquisition of aircraft that are required to get the aircraft ready for
initial service are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining
useful life.
Depreciation is charged so as to expense the cost or valuation of
assets less residual values over their estimated useful lives using
the straight-line method on the following bases:

These consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of NAC and its subsidiaries which are presented in
Note 28.

——

Jet aircraft – 25 years from the date of manufacture
assuming an estimated residual value of 15% of the
original cost

In consolidation, intercompany balances and intercompany transactions are eliminated in full.

——

Investment in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any provision
for impairment in the Company financial statements.

Turboprop aircraft – 30 years from the date of
manufacture assuming an estimated residual
value of USD 1 million

——

Furniture and equipment – 3-5 years from the date
of acquisition to an estimated residual value of nil

Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to USD at
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into USD at the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date with
differences arising recognized as profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income.
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The basis for depreciation is calculated as the net book value
less the residual value of the asset and impairment losses, if
any. The residual value is determined at the acquisition date and
reassessed annually. If the residual value exceeds the carrying
amount, depreciation is discontinued. When changing the depreciation period or the residual value, the effect on the depreciation
is recognized prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.
Depreciation and impairment is recognized in the statement of
profit and loss.

Nordic Aviation Capital

Aircraft are assessed for recoverability in accordance with
IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Notwithstanding the results of this review, in certain
circumstances management also considers the carrying amounts
of specific aircraft where indicators of a diminution in value have
been identified based on aircraft specific sale and technical
information.
For the purposes of measuring an impairment loss, each aircraft
is tested individually by comparing its carrying amount to the
higher of value in use and fair value less cost to sell.
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are
revised and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. Residual value of aircraft is based on their estimated scrap value for
turboprop aircraft and an assumed residual value of jet aircraft.
The gain or loss arising on the disposal of aircraft is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognized in the statement of profit
and loss and other comprehensive income
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of other items of
property, plant and equipment is recognized under revenue.
Pre-delivery payments
Pre-delivery payments are recorded at cost and are not depreciated. Borrowing costs associated with pre-delivery payments
are capitalized as incurred. As aircraft, which are subject to
pre-delivery payments are delivered, applicable pre-delivery
payments and financing costs are reclassified to property, plant
and equipment.
Inventories
Inventories of consumable spare parts are stated at the lower of
cost or net realizable value.
Maintenance
In many aircraft operating leases, the lessee has the obligation
to make periodic payments which are calculated based on the
utilization of airframes, engines and other major life-limited
components (supplemental amounts). In such leases, upon
the lessee presenting invoices evidencing the completion of
qualifying maintenance on the aircraft, the Group reimburses the
lessee for the cost of the maintenance, up to a maximum of the
supplemental amounts received with respect to such work unless
otherwise indicated in the lease.
Upon the acquisition of an aircraft with a lease, the liability is
recorded at fair value and is subsequently reassessed in line with
the Group’s maintenance forecasting model.
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Such maintenance reserves received in cash from lessees are
recognized as maintenance liabilities in the statement of financial
position in recognition of the contractual commitment to either
refund such receipts or to hold them for future scheduled maintenance work to be performance thereafter.
Generally, leases require a lessee to redeliver an aircraft in specified maintenance condition (normal wear and tear excepted), with
reference to major life-limited components of the aircraft. To the
extent that such components are redelivered in a different condition than specified, there is generally an end-of-lease compensation adjustment for the monetary difference. Amounts received
or paid as part of these redelivery adjustments are recorded as
lease rental income at lease termination. The Group includes
amounts recorded as maintenance payments that are not expected to be reimbursed to lessees as revenue.
Lessor contributions
Lessor contributions represent contractual obligations on the
part of the Group to contribute to a lessee’s cost of a next planned
major maintenance event which is expected to occur during the
lease. The Group regularly reviews the level of lessor contributions to cover its contractual obligations under current leases and
makes adjustments as necessary.
Lessor contributions represent a lease incentive and are recorded as a charge against lease rental income over the life of the associated lease. When aircraft are sold, the portion of the accrued
liability not specifically assigned to the buyer is derecognized
from the statement of financial position as part of the gain or loss
on disposal of the aircraft.
Lessor contributions in respect of end of lease adjustments are
recognized when the Group believes it is probable that it will be
required to reimburse amounts to a lessee and the amount can be
reasonably estimated.
Maintenance rights assets
Maintenance rights assets associated with the acquisition of
aircraft with in-place leases represent the difference in value
between the contractual right to receive an aircraft in a specified
maintenance condition on redelivery and the maintenance condition on the acquisition date. Maintenance rights assets exist if
on the acquisition date, the maintenance condition of the aircraft
is worse than the expected maintenance condition on redelivery.
A maintenance rights liability exists if on the acquisition date, the
maintenance condition is better than the expected redelivery
condition and the lessor has agreed to compensate the lessee for
the enhanced maintenance condition on redelivery.
When the Group has recorded maintenance rights assets, the
following subsequent accounting scenarios exist: (i) the aircraft
is returned at lease expiry in the contractually specified maintenance condition without any cash payment to the Group by the
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29 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

lessee, the maintenance rights asset is released and an aircraft
improvement is recorded to the extent the improvement is substantiated and deemed to meet the Group's capitalization policy;
(ii) the lessee pays the Group cash compensation at lease expiry
in excess of the value of the maintenance rights asset, the maintenance rights asset is relieved and any excess is recognized as
endof-lease income consistent with the Group's existing policy; or
(iii) the lessee pays the Group cash compensation at lease expiry
that is less than the value of the maintenance rights asset, the
cash is applied to the maintenance rights asset and the balance
of such asset is relieved and recorded as an aircraft improvement
to the extent the improvement is substantiated and meets the
Group’s capitalization policy. Any aircraft improvement will be depreciated in accordance with the Company's depreciation policy.
When the Group has recorded maintenance rights liabilities, the
following subsequent accounting scenarios exist: (i) the aircraft
is returned at lease expiry in the contractually specified maintenance condition without any cash payment by the Group to the
lessee, the maintenance rights liability is relieved and endof-lease
income is recognized; (ii) the Group pays the lessee cash compensation at lease expiry of less than the value of the maintenance rights liability, the maintenance rights liability is relieved
and any difference is recognized as endof-lease income; or (iii)
the Group pays the lessee cash compensation at lease expiry in
excess of the value of the maintenance right liability, the maintenance right liability is relieved and the excess amount is recorded
as an aircraft improvement.
Lease premium assets
Lease premium assets represent the value of acquired leases
where the contractual rent payments are above the market lease
rate at the date of acquisition. This asset is recognized at cost
based on discounted cash flows and is amortized on a straightline basis over the remaining term of the related lease and recorded as a reduction in lease rental income.
Lease premium liabilities
Lease premium liabilities represent the value of acquired leases
where the contractual rent payments are below the market lease
rate at the date of acquisition. This liability is recognized at cost
based on discounted cash flows and amortized on a straight-line
basis over the remaining term of the related lease and recorded
as an increase in lease rental income.
Order book
Order book is initially recognized at the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Order book is capitalized together with the aircraft
when it is delivered.
Customer relationships
Customer relationships are initially recognized at the fair value at
the date of acquisition. Customer relationships are depreciated
over the expected length of the customer contracts which have
been estimated at 12 years.
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Goodwill and impairment
Goodwill is the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the
Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities acquired.
Goodwill is subject to impairment testing on an annual basis, at a
consistent time each year, and at any time an impairment indicator is considered to exist. Impairment is determined by comparing
the carrying amount to the estimated recoverable amount.
Receivables from finance leases
A finance lease is recognized when there is a contractual right
to the asset’s cash flows and derecognized when all contractual
rights and obligations expire. Amounts due from lessees under
finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the
net investment in the leases. The difference between the gross
receivable and the present value of the receivable is recognized
as unearned financial income.
Progress payments made prior to the commencement of the
primary lease are included at cost together with the amount of
any interest charged on such payments.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified
as any other category of financial assets. Available-for-sale financial assets comprise estimated values of approved claims arising
from lessee bankruptcies and restructurings. The fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets is determined by reference to
inputs that are observable for the asset, either directly (i.e., as
prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). Fair value changes,
other than impairment losses, are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in an available-for-sale reserve
within equity. When an available-for-sale financial asset is sold or
retained, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to
profit or loss and reported as part of other income.
Assets held for sale
An asset should be accounted for as held for sale upon entering into a contract to sell it. Upon determination that the asset
is a held-for-sale asset, depreciation will cease to be recorded
against the asset and the asset will be reclassified as held for
sale at the lower of the book value at the date the transaction is
entered into or the asset’s fair value (sales price) less the cost to
sell the asset.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments and investments which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents have a maturity of three months or less from the date
of acquisition. Cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost.

Nordic Aviation Capital

Restricted cash
Restricted cash comprises cash held by the Group but which is
ring-fenced or used as security for specific financing arrangements and to which the Group does not have unfettered access.
Restricted cash is measured at amortized cost.
Loans and borrowings
Loans and borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Loans and borrowings are subsequently stated at amortized cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognized as profit or loss in the consolidated statement of profit
and loss and other comprehensive income over the period of borrowings using the effective interest rate method. Borrowings are
classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least one year
after the reporting date.
Derivate financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. The
fair values of derivative financial instruments are included in other
receivables and other payables, and positive and negative values
are offset only when the Group has the right and the intention to
settle several financial instruments net.
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that
qualify as a cash flow hedge and which effectively hedge changes
in the value of the hedged item are recognized in other comprehensive income and attributed to a separate reserve in equity.
When a hedged transaction results in gains or losses, amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income are transferred to the same item as the hedged item when the hedged risk
impacts the statement of profit and loss.
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured
at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation at the reporting date and are discounted to
present value where the effect is material.

liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted as of the reporting date.
Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realized.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the statement of profit and
loss except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to
equity, in which case the deferred tax effect is recorded to equity.
Equity-accounted investments
Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
in joint ventures is initially recognized at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognize the Group’s share
of profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investment in joint ventures includes goodwill identified
on acquisition.
When a Group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint
ventures are recognized in the consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

Equity
Dividends
Proposed dividends are recognized as a liability at the date they
are adopted by the Directors.
Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve includes the accumulated net change
in the fair value of hedging transactions qualifying for hedge
accounting.

Taxes
Tax for the period comprises current tax and changes in deferred
tax for the year, including changes as a result of a change in the
tax rate. The tax expense relating to the profit or loss for the period is recognized in the statement of profit and loss and the tax
expense relating to items recognized in other comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income. The Group’s

Nordic Aviation Capital

Annual report 2017/2018

91

Finance

Finance

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

30 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures
require the determination of fair value for financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. Fair value is the amount at which an
instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction between informed and willing parties, other than as part of a forced
liquidation sale. Where applicable, further information about the
assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the
notes specific to that asset or liability.
When measuring fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market observable data as far as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels of the fair value hierarchy based on the
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows.
——

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

——

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

——

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability
might be categorized into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety
into the same levels of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level
input that is significant to the entire measurement.

31 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Loans and borrowings
The fair value of loans and borrowings is estimated as the present
value of future cash outflows discounted at market rates of similar credit quality.

These financial statements were approved by the
Board of Directors on 28 August 2018.

Derivatives – interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps and interest rate cap contracts held by the
Group are measured at fair value. Fair value is based on broker
quotes, which are tested for reasonableness by discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each
contract and using market interest rates for a similar instrument
at the measurement date.
Cash and cash equivalents
The carrying amount approximates to fair value due to the shortterm nature of these instruments. Cash and cash equivalents
comprise restricted, unrestricted cash and short-term
investments.
Finance lease receivables
The fair value of finance lease receivables is estimated by
reference to lease market rates provided by external parties.
Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as
the present value of future cash flows and is discounted at the
market rate of interest when the impact is material.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value
hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the
change has occurred.
Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognized as a
result of a business combination is based on market values.
The market value of property, plant and equipment is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date
of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s
length transaction after proper marketing, wherein the parties
had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The Group uses independent, professional valuations as an
estimate of the fair value of aircraft.
Assets held for sale
The fair value of assets held for sale is based on the contracted
amount of the underlying asset.
Assets available for sale
The fair value of available-for-sale assets is based on management judgement and estimation related to what the asset or claim
can be sold for in the market.
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